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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 
Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒
  Emerging growth company ☐
 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
 

Title of each class  Trading Symbol(s)  Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share  AYTU  The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly
Report, including statements regarding our anticipated future clinical and regulatory events, future financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of
management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements are generally written in the future tense and/or are preceded by
words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “forecast,” “could,” “expect,” “suggest,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” or similar words, or the
negatives of such terms or other variations on such terms or comparable terminology. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation: the planned
expanded commercialization of our products and the potential future commercialization of our product candidates, our anticipated future cash position; our plan to
acquire additional assets; our anticipated future growth rates; anticipated sales increases; anticipated net revenue increases; amounts of certain future expenses
and costs of goods sold; anticipated increases to operating expenses, research and development expenses, and selling, general, and administrative expenses;
and future events under our current and potential future collaborations.
 

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including without limitation the risks described in “Risk
Factors” in Part II Item 1A of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10- K, and in the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These risks
are not exhaustive. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time and it is not
possible for our management to predict all risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should
not be relied upon as predictions of future events. We can provide no assurance that the events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements
will be achieved or occur and actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update or
supplement forward-looking statements, except as may be required under applicable law.
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes trademarks, such as Aytu, Karbinal®, Natesto®, Poly-Vi-Flor®, Tuzistra®, and ZolpiMist®, and the recently
acquired consumer health products such as DiabaSens®, FlutiCare®, UriVarx® and Vesele®, as well as Beyond Human-®, a specialty marketing platform, which
are protected under applicable intellectual property laws and we own or have the rights to. Solely for convenience, our trademarks and trade names referred to in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may appear without the ® or TM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate in any way that we will not assert,
to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to these trademarks and trade names.
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2020   2020  
  (Unaudited)      
Assets  
Current assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 62,032,642  $ 48,081,715 
Restricted cash   251,964   251,592 
Accounts receivable, net   7,001,068   5,175,924 
Inventory, net   6,571,254   9,999,441 
Prepaid expenses and other   6,081,766   5,715,089 
Other current assets   10,598,771   5,742,011 

Total current assets   92,537,465   74,965,772 
Fixed assets, net   89,663   258,516 
Right-of-use asset   310,479   634,093 
Licensed assets, net   15,449,281   16,586,847 
Patents and tradenames, net   10,197,112   11,081,048 
Product technology rights, net   20,051,666   21,186,666 
Deposits   16,023   32,981 
Goodwill   28,090,407   28,090,407 

Total long-term assets   74,204,631   77,870,558 

Total assets  $ 166,742,096  $ 152,836,330 
 

See the accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, cont’d

 
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2020   2020  
  (Unaudited)      
Liabilities  
Current liabilities         

Accounts payable and other  $ 7,157,208  $ 11,824,560 
Accrued liabilities   8,877,715   7,849,855 
Accrued compensation   2,540,353   3,117,177 
Debt   41,318   982,076 
Contract liability   475,680   339,336 
Current lease liability   100,263   300,426 
Current portion of fixed payment arrangements   1,937,476   2,340,166 
Current portion of CVR liabilities   977,475   839,734 
Current portion of contingent consideration   3,705,931   713,251 

Total current liabilities   25,813,419   28,306,581 
Long-term contingent consideration, net of current portion   12,573,916   12,874,351 
Long-term lease liability, net of current portion   211,056   725,374 
Long-term fixed payment arrangements, net of current portion   9,945,554   11,171,491 
Long-term CVR liabilities, net of current portion   5,494,112   4,731,866 
Other long-term liabilities   11,371   11,371 

Total liabilities   54,049,428   57,821,034 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)         
Stockholders' equity         

Preferred Stock, par value $.0001; 50,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding 0 and 0,
respectively as of December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020, respectively.   -   - 
Common Stock, par value $.0001; 200,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding
17,882,893 and 12,583,736, respectively as of December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020.   1,788   1,259 

Additional paid-in capital   246,532,284   215,024,216 
Accumulated deficit   (133,841,404)   (120,010,179)

Total stockholders' equity   112,692,668   95,015,296 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 166,742,096  $ 152,836,330 
 

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  December 31,   December 31,  

  2020   2019   2020   2019  
Revenues                 

Product revenue, net  $ 15,147,034  $ 3,175,236  $ 28,667,280  $ 4,615,062 
                 
Operating expenses                 

Cost of sales   5,998,389   606,046   9,817,545   981,766 
Research and development   286,572   66,675   469,437   144,695 
Selling, general and administrative   12,852,614   6,516,160   24,342,983   11,662,603 
Amortization of intangible assets   1,584,580   953,450   3,169,161   1,528,567 

Total operating expenses   20,722,155   8,142,331   37,799,126   14,317,631 
Loss from operations   (5,575,121)   (4,967,095)   (9,131,846)   (9,702,569)

Other (expense) income                 
Other (expense), net   (378,958)   (446,958)   (1,130,499)   (642,344)
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,313,656)   -   (3,311,320)   - 
Gain from derecognition of contingent consideration   -   5,199,806   -   5,199,806 
Gain from warrant derivative liability   -   -   -   1,830 
Loss on debt exchange   (257,559)   -   (257,559)   - 

Total other (expense) income   (3,950,173)   4,752,848   (4,699,378)   4,559,292 
Net loss  $ (9,525,294)  $ (214,247)  $ (13,831,224)  $ (5,143,277)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding   13,281,904   1,753,815   12,717,180   1,642,599 
Basic and diluted net loss per common share  $ (0.72)  $ (0.12)  $ (1.09)  $ (3.13)

 
See the accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
(unaudited unless indicated otherwise)

 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders' 
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   Deficit   Equity  

BALANCE - June 30, 2019 (audited)   3,594,981  $ 359   1,753,808  $ 176  $ 113,476,783  $ (106,389,500)  $ 7,087,818 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   165,171   -   165,171 
Preferred stock converted in common stock   (443,833)   (44)   44,384   5   39   -   - 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (4,929,030)   (4,929,030)

BALANCE - September 30, 2019   3,151,148  $ 315   1,798,192  $ 181  $ 113,641,993  $ (111,318,530)  $ 2,323,959 
                             
Stock-based compensation      $ -   -  $ -  $ 162,264  $ -  $ 162,264 
Issuance of Series F preferred stock from
October 2019 private placement financing,
net of $741,650 issuance costs   10,000   1   -   -   5,249,483   -   5,249,484 
Warrants issued in connection with the
private placement   -   -   -   -   4,008,866   -   4,008,866 
Issuance of Series G preferred stock due to
acquisition of the Cerecor portfolio of
pediatrics therapeutics   9,805,845   981           5,558,933       5,559,914 
Preferred stock converted in common stock   (2,751,148)   (275)   275,115   28   247   -   - 
Net loss       -   -   -   -   (214,247)  $ (214,247)

BALANCE - December 30, 2019   10,215,845  $ 1,022   2,073,307  $ 209  $ 128,621,786  $ (111,532,777)  $ 17,090,240 
 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   Deficit   Equity  

BALANCE - June 30, 2020 (audited)   -  $ -   12,583,736  $ 1,259  $ 215,024,216  $ (120,010,179)  $ 95,015,296 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   -   -   454,918   -   454,918 
Issuance costs   -   -   -   -   (101,537)   -   (101,537)
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (4,305,931)   (4,305,931)

BALANCE - September 30, 2020   -  $ -   12,583,736  $ 1,259  $ 215,377,597  $ (124,316,110)  $ 91,062,746 
                             
Stock-based compensation   -  $ -   -  $ -  $ 508,059  $ -  $ 508,059 
Exchange of debt for common stock   -   -   130,081   13   1,057,546   -   1,057,559 
Issuance of common stock, net of issue
costs and warrants   -   -   5,169,076   516   28,316,928   -   28,317,444 
Warrants issued in connection with
common stock offering   -   -           1,272,154       1,272,154 
   -   -                     
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (9,525,294)   (9,525,294)

BALANCE - December 31, 2020   -  $ -   17,882,893  $ 1,788  $ 246,532,284  $ (133,841,404)  $ 112,692,668 
 

See the accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

 
  Six Months Ended  
  December 31,  

  2020   2019  
         
Operating Activities         

Net loss  $ (13,831,224)  $ (5,143,277)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation, amortization and accretion   4,012,909   2,157,540 
Stock-based compensation expense   962,977   327,435 
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration   2,411,333     
(Gain) from derecognition of contingent consideration   -   (5,199,806)
Loss on sale of equipment   112,110   - 
(Gain) on termination of lease   (343,185)   - 
Loss on debt exchange   257,559     
Changes in allowance for bad debt   147,627   - 
Loss from change in fair value of CVR   899,987   - 
Derivative income       (1,830)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Increase in accounts receivable   (1,965,271)   (3,456,364)
Increase in inventory   (3,615,662)   (132,199)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other   (379,337)   (171,430)
Decrease (increase) in other current assets   2,295,055   (136,694)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and other   (3,136,163)   2,806,973 
Increase in accrued liabilities   1,711,466   145,467 
Decrease in accrued compensation   (576,824)   (62,729)
Decrease in fixed payment arrangements   -   (216,150)
Increase in contract liability   136,344   - 
Decrease in deferred rent   -   (3,990)

Net cash used in operating activities   (10,900,299)   (9,087,054)
         
Investing Activities         

Deposit   (3,923)   - 
Contingent consideration payment   (42,760)   (104,635)
Note receivable   -   (1,350,000)
Purchase of assets   -   (4,500,000)

Net cash used in investing activities   (46,683)   (5,954,635)
         
Financing Activities         

Issuance of preferred, common stock and warrants   32,249,652   10,000,000 
Issuance cost related to registered offering   (4,292,781)   (741,650)
Payments made to borrowings   (272,727)   - 
Payments made to fixed payment arrangements   (2,785,863)   - 

Net cash provided by financing activities   24,898,281   9,258,350 
         
Net change in cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents   13,951,299   (5,783,339)
Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   48,333,307   11,294,227 

Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 62,284,606  $ 5,510,888 
 

See the accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cont’d
(unaudited)

 
  Six Months Ended  
  December 31,  
Supplemental disclosures of cash and non-cash investing and financing transactions  2020   2019  

Warrants issued to underwriters  $ 356,139  $ - 
Cash paid for interest   306,752   3,390 
Fair value of right-to-use asset and related lease liability   43,082   412,691 
Contingent consideration included in accounts payable   -   3,430 
Debt exchange   1,057,559   - 
Fixed payment arrangements included in accrued liabilities   1,050,000   - 
Inventory swap   7,043,849   - 
Acquisition costs included in accounts payable   -   59,014 
Exchange of convertible preferred stock into common stock  $ -  $ 44 

 
See the accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

 
 
 
 
 1. Nature of Business, Financial Condition, Basis of Presentation
 
 

Nature of Business. Aytu BioScience, Inc. (“Aytu”, the “Company” or “we”) is a commercial-stage specialty pharmaceutical company focused on
commercializing novel products that address significant healthcare needs in both prescription and consumer health categories. The Company currently operates
its Aytu BioScience business, consisting of the primary care product portfolio (the “Primary Care Portfolio”), the prescription pediatric portfolio (the “Pediatric
Portfolio”), and its Aytu consumer healthcare products business (the “Consumer Health Portfolio”). The Aytu BioScience business is focused on
commercializing prescription pharmaceutical products treating hypogonadism (low testosterone), cough and upper respiratory symptoms, insomnia, male
infertility, and various pediatric conditions. The Aytu Consumer Health business is focused on commercializing consumer healthcare products. The Company
plans to expand into other therapeutic areas as opportunities arise. The Company was incorporated as Rosewind Corporation on August 9, 2002 in the State of
Colorado. Aytu was re-incorporated in the state of Delaware on June 8, 2015.
 

The Primary Care Portfolio consists of (i) Natesto, the only FDA-approved nasal formulation of testosterone for men with hypogonadism (low testosterone,
or "Low T"), (ii) ZolpiMist, the only FDA-approved oral spray prescription sleep aid, and (iii) Tuzistra XR, the only FDA-approved 12-hour codeine-based
antitussive syrup.
 

The Pediatric Care Portfolio, acquired on November 1, 2019, (the “Pediatric Portfolio”), includes (i) Poly-Vi-Flor and Tri-Vi-Flor, two complementary
prescription fluoride-based supplement product lines containing combinations of fluoride and vitamins in various formulations for infants and children with fluoride
deficiency, (ii) Cefaclor, a second-generation cephalosporin antibiotic suspension; and (iii) Karbinal ER, an extended-release carbinoxamine (antihistamine)
suspension indicated to treat numerous allergic conditions.
 

On February 14, 2020, the Company acquired Innovus Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Innovus”), a specialty pharmaceutical company licensing, developing and
commercializing safe and effective consumer healthcare products designed to improve health and vitality. Innovus commercializes over twenty consumer health
products competing in large healthcare categories including diabetes, men's health, sexual wellness and respiratory health. The Consumer Health Portfolio is
commercialized through direct-to- consumer marketing channels utilizing Innovus’s proprietary Beyond Human®  marketing and sales platform and on e-
commerce platforms.

 
On December 10, 2020, the Company and Neutron Acquisition Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), entered into an

Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Neos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Neos”). The Merger Agreement provides, among other things, that on the
terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Merger Sub will merge with and into Neos, with Neos surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Neos Merger”). The Neos Merger is subject to the approval of both the shareholders of the Company and Neos. Based on the number of shares
of the Company’s common stock anticipated to be immediately issued to Neos stockholders upon closing of the merger (which could be impacted by changes in
Neos stock price leading to the exercise of options not otherwise being assumed by the Company) and the number of shares of the Company’s common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2020, it is expected that, immediately after completion of the merger, former Neos stockholders will own approximately 24% of
the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. Existing Company stockholders are expected to own approximately 76% of the outstanding shares of
the Company’s common stock. In addition, each unvested option to acquire shares of Neos common stock that is outstanding as of immediately prior to the close
of the Neos Merger (the "Effective Time") with an exercise price equal to or less than $0.95 shall be assumed by the Company and converted into an option to
acquire shares of the Company’s common stock on the same terms and conditions. The number of shares of Company’s common stock subject to each such
assumed option shall be equal to (i) the number of shares of Neos common stock subject to the corresponding assumed option immediately prior to the close
multiplied by (ii) 0.1088 (the "Exchange Ratio"), rounded down, if necessary, to the nearest whole share of the Company’s common stock, and such assumed
option shall have an exercise price per share (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (A) the exercise price per share of Neos common stock otherwise
purchasable pursuant to the corresponding assumed option divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio. As of February 5, 2021, the total estimated shares to be issued in
connection with this merger totaled approximately 5.4 million with an estimated fair value of $44.2 million.

 
In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company and Neos have entered into a Commitment Letter (the “Bridge Commitment

Letter”) for the Company to provide financing to Neos under an unsecured convertible note, in an aggregate amount of up to $5,000,000, subject to the terms set
forth therein (the "Bridge Financing"). Interest accrues on the principal amount outstanding under the note at a rate of 6.0% per annum, compounding monthly
and commencing if and when such Bridge Financing is provided. If an event of default has occurred and is continuing, the interest rate then in effect will be
increased by 2.0% per annum, and all overdue obligations under the note will bear interest at the interest rate in effect at such time plus the additional 2.0% per
annum. The Company's rights under the note, including rights to payment, are subordinated to the rights of Neos’s existing senior lenders. The maturity date of
the note is the earlier of the acceleration of the obligations evidenced thereby and November 7, 2022. In the event that Neos draws down on the note, the
exchange ratio will be adjusted downward by an amount equal to 0.00011 for every $100,000 of financing funded to Neos under the note.
 

In April of 2020, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Cedars-Sinai Medical Center to secure worldwide rights to various potential uses of
Healight, an investigational medical device platform technology. Healight has demonstrated safety and efficacy in pre-clinical studies, and we plan to advance this
technology and assess its safety and efficacy in human studies, initially focused on COVID-19 patients.

 
The Company recently established a purchasing relationship with a U.S. supplier of Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) authorized antigen tests. Antigen

tests rapidly detect the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 virus antigen via a nasopharyngeal swab and are used without laboratory equipment. Demand for rapid
antigen tests has increased in recent months across the U.S.
 

The Company’s strategy is to continue building its portfolio of revenue-generating products, leveraging its commercial team’s expertise to build leading
brands within large therapeutic markets.
 

Financial Condition. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had approximately $62.3 million of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
Company’s operations have historically consumed cash and are expected to continue to require cash, but at a declining rate.
 

Revenues for the three- and six- months ended December 31, 2020were $15.1 million and $28.7 million, compared to $3.2 million and $4.6 million for the
same periods ended December 31, 2019, an increase of approximately 377% and 521%,  respectively. Revenue is expected to increase over time, which will

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



allow the Company to rely less on the Company's existing cash balance and proceeds from financing transactions. Cash used by operations during the six-
months ended December 31, 2020 was $10.9 million compared to $9.1 million for the six-months ended December 31, 2019 . The increase is due primarily to an
increase in working capital and pay down of other liabilities.
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As of the date of this Report, the Company expects costs for its current operations to increase modestly as the Company continues to integrate the
acquisition of the Pediatrics Portfolio, Innovus and if approved by the Company's and Neos' shareholders, the Neos Merger, continues to focus on revenue growth
through increasing product sales and additional acquisitions. The Company’s current assets totaling approximately $92.5 million as of December 31, 2020 plus
the proceeds expected from ongoing product sales will be used to fund existing operations. The Company may continue to access the capital markets from time-
to-time when market conditions are favorable. The timing and amount of capital that may be raised is dependent on the terms and conditions upon which
investors would require to provide such capital. There is no guarantee that capital will be available on terms favorable to the Company and its stockholders, or at
all. The Company raised approximately $29.6 million, net during the three months ended December 31, 2020, from the sale of approximately 0.4 million
shares using the Company’s at-the-market facility and from the issuance of approximately 4.8 million shares of the Company's common stock and 0.3 million
placement agent warrants on December 15, 2020. On December 10, 2020, the Company exchanged $0.8 million of debt into 0.1 million shares of the Company's
common stock, eliminating the use cash to satisfy this obligation (see Note 15). Between December 31, 2020, and the filing date of this quarterly report on Form
10-Q, the Company has not issued common stock under the Company’s at-the-market offering program.  As of the date of this report, the Company has
adequate capital resources to complete its near-term operating objectives. 

 
Since the Company has sufficient cash on-hand as of December 31, 2020 to cover potential net cash outflows for the twelve months following the filing date

of this Quarterly Report, the Company reports that there exists no indication of substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.
 

If the Company is unable to raise adequate capital in the future when it is required, the Company's management can adjust its operating plans to reduce
the magnitude of the capital need under its existing operating plan. Some of the adjustments that could be made include delays of and reductions to commercial
programs, reductions in headcount, narrowing the scope of the Company’s commercial plans, or reductions to its research and development programs. Without
sufficient operating capital, the Company could be required to relinquish rights to products or renegotiate to maintain such rights on less favorable terms than it
would otherwise choose. This may lead to impairment or other charges, which could materially affect the Company’s balance sheet and operating results.
 

Basis of Presentation. The unaudited consolidated financial statements contained in this report represent the financial statements of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Aytu Women’s Health, LLC, Innovus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Aytu Therapeutics, LLC. The unaudited consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2020, which included all disclosures
required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). In the opinion of management, these unaudited consolidated financial
statements contain all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position of the Company and the results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods presented. The results of operations for the period ended December 31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of expected operating results for the full year.
The information presented throughout this report, as of and for the three and six-month periods ended December 31, 2020 , and 2019, is unaudited. 

 
On December 8, 2020, the Company effected a reverse stock split in which each common stockholder received one share of common stock for every

10 shares held (herein referred to collectively as the “Reverse Stock Split”). All share and per share amounts in this report have been adjusted to reflect the effect
of the Reverse Stock Split.
 

Interim Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2020, and the condensed consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, for the three- and six- months ended, and the interim condensed
consolidated statements of cash flows for the six-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 , are unaudited. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as
of June 30, 2020 was derived from audited financial statements but does not include all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP. The interim unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the annual consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of
management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to state fairly the Company’s financial condition, its operations
and cash flows for the periods presented. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results, and the results of operations for the three and six-
months ended December 31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or any other period.
 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent consideration, contingent value rights ("CVRs"), and fixed payment obligations at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses for the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates,
including, but not limited to, those related to the determination of the fair value of equity awards, the fair value of identified assets and liabilities acquired in
business combinations, the useful lives of property and equipment, intangible assets, impairment of long-lived and intangible assets, including goodwill, provisions
for doubtful accounts receivable, certain accrued expenses, and the discount rate used in measuring lease liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based
on the Company’s historical results and management’s future expectations. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Significant Accounting Policies
 

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements
in the Annual Report. There have been no significant changes to these policies that have had a material impact on the Company’s unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements and related notes during the three months ended December 31, 2020.
 
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements
 

Fair Value Measurements (“ASU 2018-13”). In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) Disclosure
Framework-Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement.” The amendments in the standard apply to all entities that are required, under
existing GAAP, to make disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair value measurements. ASU 2018-13 removes, modifies, and adds certain disclosure
requirements in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. The standard is effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2019.
 

The amendments on changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3
fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent interim or annual
period presented in the initial fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods presented upon their effective date.
The Company adopted this as of July 1, 2020, the beginning of the Company’s fiscal year-ended June 30, 2021. The most relevant component of ASU 2018-13
to the Company’s financial statements relates to the need to disclose the range and weighted-average of significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurements. However, the Company discloses on a discrete basis all significant inputs for all Level 3 Fair Value measurements.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (“ASU 2016-13”). In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses” to require
the measurement of expected credit losses for financial instruments held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable
forecasts. The main objective of this ASU is to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on
financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The standard was effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. However, in October 2019, the FASB approved deferral of the adoption date for smaller reporting
companies for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2022. Accordingly, the Company’s fiscal year of adoption will be the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.
Early adoption is permitted for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, but the Company did not elect to early adopt. The
Company is currently assessing the impact that ASU 2016-13 will have on its consolidated financial statements, but no conclusion has been reached.
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q does not discuss recent pronouncements that are not anticipated to have an impact on or are unrelated to the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or disclosures.
 
 
2. Acquisitions
 
The Pediatric Portfolio
 

On October 10, 2019, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with Cerecor, Inc. (“Cerecor”) to acquire the Pediatric Portfolio, which closed on
November 1, 2019. The Pediatric Portfolio consists of four main prescription products (i) Cefaclor™ for Oral Suspension, (iii) Karbinal® ER (iii) Poly-Vi-Flor®, and
(iv) Tri-Vi-Flor™.
Total consideration transferred to Cerecor consisted of $4.5 million cash and approximately 980 thousand shares of Series G Convertible Preferred
Stock. The Company also assumed certain of Cerecor’s financial and royalty obligations, and not more than $2.7 million of Medicaid rebates and
up to $0.8 million of product returns, of which $3.5 million has been incurred. The Company also hired the majority of Cerecor’s workforce focused
on sales, commercial contracts and customer relationships.
 
 

In addition, the Company assumed Cerecor obligations due to an investor that include fixed and variable payments aggregating to $25.6 million. The
Company assumed fixed monthly payments equal to $0.1 million from November 2019 through January 2021 plus $15 million due in January 2021. Monthly
variable payments due to the same investor are equal to 15% of net revenue generated from a subset of the Pediatric Portfolio, subject to an aggregate monthly
minimum of $0.1 million, except for January 2020, when a one-time payment of $0.2 million was paid to the investor. The variable payment obligation continues
until the earlier of: (i) aggregate variable payments of approximately $9.5 million have been made, or (ii) February 12, 2026. In June 2020, the Company paid
down a $15 million balloon payment originally owed in January 2021 to reduce the fixed liability.
 

Further, certain of the products in the Pediatric Portfolio require royalty payments ranging from 12% to 15% of net revenue. One of the products in the
Product Portfolio requires the Company to generate minimum annual sales sufficient to represent annual royalties of approximately $1.8 million, in the event the
minimum sales volume is not satisfied.
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While no equity was acquired by the Company, the transaction was accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting
pursuant to Topic 805. Accordingly, the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired, and liabilities assumed were recorded at fair value as of the date of
acquisition, with the remainder of the aggregate purchase price recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to strategic opportunities
related to an expanded commercial footprint and diversified product portfolio that is expected to provide revenue and cost synergies.
 

The following table summarized the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 
 
  As of  
  November 1, 2019  
Consideration     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,500,000 
Fair value of Series G Convertible Preferred Stock     

Total shares issued   9,805,845 
Estimated fair value per share of Aytu common stock  $ 0.567 

Estimated fair value of equity consideration transferred   5,559,914 
Total consideration transferred  $ 10,059,914 
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed     

Inventory  $ 459,123 
Prepaid assets   1,743,555 
Other current assets   2,525,886 
Intangible assets - product marketing rights   22,700,000 
Accrued liabilities   (300,000)
Accrued product program liabilities   (6,683,932)
Assumed fixed payment obligations  $ (29,837,853)

Total identifiable net assets   (9,393,221)
Goodwill  $ 19,453,135 

 
The fair values of intangible assets, including product technology rights were determined using variations of the income approach. Varying discount rates

were also applied to the projected net cash flows. The Company believes the assumptions are representative of those a market participant would use in
estimating fair value (see Note 9).
 

The fair value of the net identifiable asset acquired was determined to be $22.7 million, which is being amortized over ten years.
 
Innovus Merger (Consumer Health Portfolio)
 

On February 14, 2020, the Company completed the Merger with Innovus Pharmaceuticals after approval by the stockholders of both companies on
February 13, 2020. Upon the effectiveness of the Merger, a subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Innovus, and all outstanding Innovus common stock
was exchanged for approximately 380 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock and up to $16 million of Contingent Value Rights (“CVRs”). The
outstanding Innovus warrants with cash out rights were exchanged for approximately 200 thousand shares of Series H Convertible Preferred stock of the
Company and retired. The remaining Innovus warrants outstanding, those without ‘cash- out’ rights, at the time of the Merger, continue to be outstanding, and
upon exercise, retain the right to the merger consideration offered to Innovus stockholders, including any remaining claims represented by CVRs at the time of
exercise. Innovus is now a 100% wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (“Aytu Consumer Health”).
 

On March 31, 2020, the Company paid out the first CVR Milestone in the form of approximately 120 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock to
satisfy the $2.0 million obligation as a result of Innovus achieving the $24 million revenue milestone for the calendar year ended December 31, 2019. As a result
of this, the Company recognized a gain of approximately $0.3 million.
 

In addition, as part of the Merger, the Company assumed approximately $3.1 million of notes payable, $0.8 million in lease liabilities, and other assumed
liabilities associated with Innovus. Of the $3.1 million of notes payable, approximately $2.2 million was converted into approximately 180 thousand shares of the
Company’s common stock since February 14, 2020. Approximately $41 thousand remained outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
 

13

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents
 

The following table summarized the preliminary fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. These estimates are
preliminary, pending final evaluation of certain assets and liabilities, and therefore, are subject to revisions that may result in adjustments to the values presented
below:
 
  As of  
  February 14, 2020  
Consideration     

Fair Value of Aytu Common Stock     
Total shares issued at close   3,810,393 
Estimated fair value per share of Aytu common stock  $ 0.756 

Estimated fair value of equity consideration transferred  $ 2,880,581 
Fair value of Series H Convertible Preferred Stock     

Total shares issued   1,997,736 
Estimated fair value per share of Aytu common stock  $ 0.756 

Estimated fair value of equity consideration transferred  $ 1,510,288 
Fair value of former Innovus warrants  $ 15,315 
Fair value of Contingent Value Rights  $ 7,049,079 
Forgiveness of Note Payable owed to the Company  $ 1,350,000 

Total consideration transferred  $ 12,805,263 
 
  As of  
  February 14, 2020  
Total consideration transferred  $ 12,805,263 
Recognized amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 390,916 
Accounts receivable   278,826 
Inventory   1,149,625 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,692,133 
Other long-term assets   36,781 
Right-to-use assets   328,410 
Property, plant and equipment   190,393 
Trademarks and patents   11,744,000 
Accounts payable and accrued other expenses   (7,202,309)
Other current liabilities   (629,601)
Notes payable   (3,056,361)
Lease liability   (754,822)

Total identifiable assets  $ 4,167,991 
Goodwill  $ 8,637,272 

 
The fair values of intangible assets, including product distribution rights were determined using variations of the income approach, specifically the relief-

from-royalties method. It also includes customer lists using an income approach utilizing a discounted cash flow model. Varying discount rates were also applied
to the projected net cash flows. The CVRs were valued using a Monte-Carlo model. The Company believes the assumptions are representative of those a market
participant would use in estimating fair value (see Note 10).
 

The fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired was determined to be $11.7 million, which is being amortized over a range between 1.5 to 10 years.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Information
 

The following supplemental unaudited proforma financial information presents the Company’s results as if the following acquisitions had occurred on July 1,
2019:
 
 • Acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio, effective November 1, 2019;

 • Merger with Innovus effective February 14, 2020.

 
The unaudited pro forma results have been prepared based on estimates and assumptions, which management believes are reasonable, however, the

results are not necessarily indicative of the consolidated results of operations had the acquisition occurred on July 1, 2019, or of future results of operations:
 
 

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

  

December 31,
2020   

December 31,
2019   

December 31,
2020   

December 31,
2019  

  Actual   Pro forma   Actual   Pro forma  
  (Unaudited)   (Unaudited)   (Unaudited)   (Unaudited)  
Total revenues, net  $ 15,147,034  $ 8,929,802  $ 28,667,280  $ 20,541,401 
Net (loss)   (9,525,294)   (2,450,247)   (13,831,224)   (11,255,247)
Net (loss) per share (aa)  $ (0.72)  $ (1.40)  $ (1.09)  $ (6.85)
 
(aa) Pro forma net loss per share calculations excluded the impact of the issuance of the (i) Series G Convertible Preferred Stock and the, (ii) Series H
Convertible Preferred Stock under the assumption those shares would continue to remain non-participatory during the periods reported above.
 
 
3. Revenue Recognition
 

Revenues by Geographic location . The following table reflects our product revenues by geographic location as determined by the billing address of our
customers:
 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  December 31,   December 31,  

  2020   2019   2020   2019  
  (unaudited)   (unaudited)   (unaudited)   (unaudited)  
U.S.  $ 13,757,000  $ 3,047,000  $ 25,901,000  $ 4,309,000 
International   1,390,000   128,000   2,766,000   306,000 
  Total net revenue  $ 15,147,000  $ 3,175,000  $ 28,667,000  $ 4,615,000 
 

Revenues by Product Portfolio. Net revenue disaggregated by significant product portfolio for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020  and
December 31, 2019 were as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended December 31,   Six Months Ended December 31,  

  2020   2019   2020   2019  
                 
Primary care and devices portfolio  $ 4,097,000  $ 1,190,000  $ 7,130,000  $ 2,630,000 
Pediatric portfolio   3,115,000   1,985,000   5,834,000   1,985,000 
Consumer Health portfolio   7,935,000   -   15,703,000   - 
  Total net revenue  $ 15,147,000  $ 3,175,000  $ 28,667,000  $ 4,615,000 
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4. Inventories
 

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods and are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a first-in, first-
out basis. Aytu periodically reviews the composition of its inventories to identify obsolete, slow-moving or otherwise unsaleable items. If unsaleable items are
observed and there are no alternate uses for the inventory, Aytu will record a write-down to net realizable value in the period that the impairment is first
recognized. The Company wrote down $0.1 million and $0.2 million of inventory during the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020 , respectively. There
was no inventory written down for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2019, respectively.
 
Inventory balances consist of the following:
 
  As of   As of  
  December 31,   June 30,  

  2020   2020  
Raw materials  $ 590,000  $ 397,000 
Finished goods, net   5,981,000   9,603,000 

  $ 6,571,000  $ 10,000,000 
 
 
5. Fixed Assets
 

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and once placed in service, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated economic life or related lease term. Fixed assets consist of the following:
 
     As of   As of  
  Estimated   December 31,   June 30,  

  

Useful Lives in
years   2020   2020  

Manufacturing equipment  2 - 5   $ 112,000  $ 112,000 
Leasehold improvements  3    111,000   229,000 
Office equipment, furniture and other  2 - 5    281,000   312,000 
Lab equipment  3 - 5    90,000   90,000 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization      (504,000)   (484,000)

Fixed assets, net     $ 90,000  $ 259,000 
 

During the six months ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized a loss of $0.1 million on sale of equipment due to termination of leases.
 

        Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $18,000 and $16,000 for the three-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,
and $51,000 and $32,000 for the six-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 , respectively.

 
 
6. Leases, Right-to-Use Assets and Related Liabilities
 

The Company previously adopted the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” as of July 1, 2019. With the adoption of ASU 2016-02, the
Company recorded an operating right-of-use asset and an operating lease liability on its balance sheet associated with the lease of its corporate headquarters.
The right-of-use asset represents the Company’s right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, and the lease obligation represents the Company’s
commitment to make the lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use lease assets and obligations were recognized at the later of the commencement
date or July 1, 2019; the date of adoption of Topic 842; based on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. As the Company’s lease
does not provide an implicit rate, the Company used an estimated incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in
determining the present value of the lease payments. Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, subject to any changes in the
lease or expectations regarding the terms. The lease liability is classified as current or long-term on the balance sheet.
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As of December 31, 2020, the maturities of the Company’s future minimum lease payments were as follows:
 
 
  Operating   Finance  
2021 (remaining 6 months)  $ 37,000  $ 61,000 
2022   18,000   124,000 
2023   -   127,000 
2024   -   35,000 
2025   -   3,000 

Total lease payments   55,000   350,000 
Less: Imputed interest       (39,000)

Lease liabilities      $ 311,000 
 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of finance lease liabilities for the six months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $147,000 and
$63,000, respectively, and was included in net cash used in operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

As of December 31, 2020, the weighted average remaining lease term is 2.28 years, and the weighted average discount rate used to determine operating
lease liabilities was 8.0%. Rent expense for the three-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $90,000 and $30,000. Rent expense for the six-
months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $160,000 and $63,000, respectively.
 

On August 28, 2020, the Company’s Innovus subsidiary signed a lease termination agreement with its lessor to terminate its lease effective September 30,
2020. The original lease termination date was April 30, 2023. As part of the agreement, Innovus agreed to make a cash payment to the landlord the equivalent of
two additional months’ rent aggregating to $44,306 plus $125,000 less the security deposit of $20,881. The fair value of the lease liability related to this facility
lease was approximately $0.7 million as of June 30, 2020. The Company recognized a gain of approximately $343,000 during the six months ended December
31, 2020.
       
       On October 1, 2020, the Company's Innovus subsidiary entered into a short-term lease for warehouse space in Carlsbad, CA. The lease term is for one-year
with an option to terminate after six months with ninety days' notice. This lease is accounted for as a short-term lease and is not included as a component of the
Company's right-to-use assets and related liability.
 
 
 
 
7. Intangible Assets – Amortizable
 

The Company currently holds the following intangible asset portfolios as of December 31, 2020: (i) Licensed assets, which consist of pharmaceutical product
assets that were acquired prior to July 1, 2020; (ii) Product technology rights, acquired from the November 1, 2019 acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio from
Cerecor; and, as a result of the Merger with Innovus on February 14, 2020, both, (iii) the Acquired product distribution rights; consisting of patents and trade
names, and the Acquired customer lists.
 

If acquired in an asset acquisition, the Company capitalized the acquisition cost of each licensed patent or tradename, which can include a combination of
both upfront consideration, as well as the estimated future contingent consideration estimated at the acquisition date. If acquired in a business combination, the
Company capitalizes the estimated fair value of the intangible asset or assets acquired, based primarily on a discounted cash flow model approach or relief-from-
royalties model.
 
The following table provides the summary of the Company’s intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020, respectively.
 
  December 31, 2020  

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   Impairment   

Net Carrying
Amount   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Life (in years)  

Licensed assets  $ 23,649,000  $ (8,200,000)  $ -  $ 15,449,000   11.72 
Acquired product technology right   22,700,000   (2,648,000)   -   20,052,000   8.84 
Acquired product distribution rights   11,354,000   (1,319,000)   -   10,035,000   7.27 
Acquired customer lists   390,000   (227,000)   -   163,000   0.62 
  $ 58,093,000  $ (12,394,000)  $ -  $ 45,699,000   9.44 
 
  June 30, 2020  

  

Gross Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   Impairment   

Net Carrying
Amount   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Life (in years)  

Licensed assets  $ 23,649,000  $ (7,062,000)  $ -  $ 16,587,000   11.88 
MiOXSYS Patent   380,000   (185,000)   (195,000)   -   - 
Acquired product technology right   22,700,000   (1,513,000)   -   21,187,000   9.34 
Acquired product distribution rights   11,354,000   (565,000)   -   10,789,000   7.78 
Acquired customer lists   390,000   (98,000)   -   292,000   1.12 
  $ 58,473,000  $ (9,423,000)  $ (195,000)  $ 48,855,000   9.11 
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The following table summarizes the estimated future amortization expense to be recognized over the next five years and periods thereafter:
 

  Amortization  
2021  $ 3,157,000 
2022   6,085,000 
2023   6,045,000 
2024   6,033,000 
2025   4,480,000 
Thereafter   19,899,000 

  $ 45,699,000 
 

Certain of the Company’s amortizable intangible assets include renewal options, extending the expected life of the asset. The renewal periods range
between approximately 1 to 20 years depending on the license, patent, or other agreement. Renewals are accounted for when they are reasonably assured.
Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Amortization expense of intangible assets was $1.6 million and
$0.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Amortization expense of intangible assets was $3.2 million and $1.5 million
for the six months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
 
 
8. Accrued liabilities
 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:
 
  As of   As of  
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2020   2020  
Accrued settlement expense  $ 150,000  $ 315,000 
Accrued program liabilities   1,386,000   959,000 
Accrued product-related fees   2,332,000   2,471,000 
Credit card liabilities   712,000   510,000 
Medicaid liabilities   2,094,000   1,842,000 
Return reserve   1,656,000   1,329,000 
Sales taxes payable   175,000   175,000 
Other accrued liabilities*   373,000   249,000 

Total accrued liabilities  $ 8,878,000  $ 7,850,000 
 

* Other accrued liabilities consist of franchise tax, accounting fee, interest payable, merchant services charges, none of which individually represent greater
than five percent of total current liabilities.
 
 
9. Fair Value Considerations
 

The Company’s asset and liability classified financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, warrant derivative liability, and contingent consideration. The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. The fair value
of acquisition-related contingent consideration is based on Monte-Carlo models. The valuation policies are determined by management, and the Company’s
Board of Directors is informed of any policy change.
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Authoritative guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The guidance establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable
inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the
Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed
based on the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on reliability of the inputs as follows:
 
Level 1: Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible to Aytu for identical assets or liabilities;
 
Level 2: Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active or inactive markets or that are observable for the asset or liability either directly
or indirectly; and
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
 

The Company’s assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to their
fair value measurement. The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers in and/or out of fair value hierarchy as of the date in which the event or change in
circumstances caused the transfer. Aytu has consistently applied the valuation techniques discussed below in all periods presented.
 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

The following table presents the Company’s financial liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of  December 31, 2020 and June
30, 2020, by level within the fair value hierarchy.
 
      Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020  

  

Fair Value at
December 31,

2020   

Quoted Priced
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs (Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level

3)  
Recurring:                 

Contingent consideration   16,280,000   –   –   16,280,000 
CVR liability   6,472,000   –   –   6,472,000 

  $ 22,752,000   –   –  $ 22,752,000 
 
      Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2020  

  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2020   

Quoted Priced
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Recurring:                 
Contingent consideration   13,588,000   –   –   13,588,000 
CVR liability  $ 5,572,000   –   –  $ 5,572,000 

  $ 19,160,000   –   –  $ 19,160,000 
 

Contingent Consideration. The Company classifies its contingent consideration liability in connection with the acquisition of Tuzistra XR, ZolpiMist and
Innovus, within Level 3 as factors used to develop the estimated fair value are unobservable inputs that are not supported by market activity. The Company
estimates the fair value of our contingent consideration liability based on projected payment dates, discount rates, probabilities of payment, and projected
revenues. Projected contingent payment amounts are discounted back to the current period using a discounted cash flow methodology.
 

As of November 2, 2018, the contingent consideration, related to this Tuzistra XR, was valued at $8.8 million using a Monte Carlo simulation. As of
December 31,2020, the contingent consideration was revalued at $15.8 million using the same Monte Carlo simulation methodology, and based on current
interest rates, expected sales potential, and Aytu stock trading variables.  As of December 31, 2020, none of the milestones had been achieved, and therefore, no
milestone payment was made. However, approximately $3.0 million is expected to be paid in November 2021, as this milestone will be satisfied.
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The contingent consideration related to the ZolpiMist royalty payments was valued at $2.6 million using a Monte Carlo simulation, as of June 11, 2018. As
of December 31, 2020, the contingent consideration was revalued at $0.3 million using the same Monte Carlo simulation methodology, and based on current
interest rates, expected sales potential, and Aytu stock trading variables. The Company reevaluates the contingent consideration on a quarterly basis for changes
in the fair value recognized after the acquisition date, such as measurement period adjustments.  As of December 31, 2020, none of the milestones had been
achieved, and therefore, no milestone payment was made.
 

The Company recognized approximately $0.2 million in product related contingent consideration as a result of the February 14, 2020 Innovus Merger. The
fair value was based on a discounted value of the future contingent payment using a 30% discount rate based on the estimates risk that the milestones are
achieved. The contingent consideration accretion expense for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  was $15,000, and $28,000,
respectively. There was no material change in this valuation as of December 31, 2020.
 

Contingent value rights.  Contingent value rights (“CVRs”) represent contingent additional consideration of up to $16 million payable to satisfy future
performance milestones related to the Innovus Merger. Consideration can be satisfied in up to 470 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock, or cash
either upon the option of the Company or in the event there are insufficient shares available to satisfy such obligations. The fair value of the contingent value
rights was based on a Monte Carlo model which takes into account current interest rates and expected sales potential. On March 31, 2020, the Company paid
out approximately 120 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock to satisfy the first $2 million milestone, which relates to the Innovus achievement of $24
million in revenues during the 2019 calendar year. The unrealized loss for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0.1 million and
$0.8 million, respectively. The CVR's did not exist until after December 31, 2019. 
 
Summary of Level 3 Input Changes
 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes to those fair value measures using Level 3 inputs for the three months ended December 31, 2020:
 

  CVR Liability   

Contingent
Consideration  

Balance as of June 30, 2020  $ 5,572,000  $ 13,588,000 
Transfers into Level 3   –   – 
Transfer out of Level 3   –   – 
Total gains, losses, amortization or accretion in period   –   – 

Included in earnings  $ 900,000  $ 2,735,000 
Included in other comprehensive income   –   – 

Purchases, issues, sales and settlements   –   – 
Purchases   –   – 
Issues   –   – 
Sales   –   – 
Settlements   –  $ (43,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2020  $ 6,472,000  $ 16,280,000 
 
 
Significant Assumptions
 

Contingent consideration. The Company estimates the fair value of the Contingent Consideration at each reporting date using management's forecast as the
baseline for developing a Monte-Carlo model. The other significant assumptions used in the Monte Carlo Simulation as of December 31, 2020, were as
follows: 
 
 

 
 

As of December 31,
2020

Contingent Consideration   
Credit risk assumption  19.10%
Sales volatility  45.00%
Credit spread  4.00%
Time steps per year  1
Number of iterations  500

 
Contingent value rights. The Company estimates the fair value of the Contingent Value Rights at each reporting date using management's forecast as the
baseline for developing a Monte-Carlo model. The other significant assumptions used in the Monte Carlo Simulation as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:
 
 

 
 

As of December 31,
2020

Contingent Value Rights   
Credit risk assumption  9.6%
Time steps per year  30.00
Number of iterations  10,000
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10. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Commitments and contingencies are described below and summarized by the following as of December 31, 2020:
 
  Total   2021   2022   2023   2024   2025   Thereafter  
Prescription database  $ 1,278,000  $ 545,000  $ 733,000   -   -   -   - 
Pediatric portfolio fixed payments and product
minimums   15,825,000   1,650,000   3,300,000   3,300,000   3,300,000   3,300,000   975,000 
Inventory purchase commitment   1,717,000   981,000   736,000   -   -   -   - 
CVR liability   14,000,000   2,000,000   2,000,000   5,000,000   5,000,000   -   - 
Product contingent liability   2,500,000   -   -   -   -   -   2,500,000 
Product milestone payments   3,000,000   -   3,000,000   -   -   -   - 
                             

  $ 38,320,000  $ 5,176,000  $ 9,769,000  $ 8,300,000  $ 8,300,000  $ 3,300,000  $ 3,475,000 
 
Prescription Database
 

In May 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with a vendor that will provide it with prescription database information. The Company agreed to pay
approximately $1.6 million over three years for access to the database of prescriptions written for Natesto. In January 2020, the Company amended the
agreement and agreed to pay additional $0.6 million to add access to the database of prescriptions written for the Pediatric Portfolio. The payments have been
broken down into quarterly payments.
 
Pediatric Portfolio Fixed Payments and Product Milestone
 

The Company assumed two fixed, periodic payment obligations to an investor (the “Fixed Obligation”). Beginning November 1, 2019 through January 2021,
the Company will pay monthly payments of $86,840, with a balloon payment of $15,000,000 due in January 2021. A second fixed obligation requires the
Company pay a minimum of $100,000 monthly through February 2026, except for $210,767 paid in January 2020. 

 
On May 29, 2020, the Company entered into an Early Payment Agreement and Escrow Instruction (the “Early Payment Agreement”) pursuant to which the

Company agreed to pay $15.0 million to the investor in early satisfaction of the Balloon Payment Obligation. The parties to the Early Payment Agreement
acknowledged and agreed that the remaining fixed payments other than the Balloon Payment Obligation remain due and payable pursuant to the terms of the
Agreement, and that nothing in the Early Payment Agreement alters, amends, or waives any provisions or obligations in the Waiver or the Investor agreement
other than as expressly set forth therein.
 

In addition, the Company acquired a Supply and Distribution Agreement with Tris Pharma, Inc. ("TRIS"), (the “Karbinal Agreement”), under which the
Company is granted the exclusive right to distribute and sell the product in the United States. The initial term of the Karbinal Agreement was 20 years. The
Company will pay TRIS a royalty equal to 23.5% of net sales. A third party agreed to offset the 23.5% royalty payable by 8.5%, for a net royalty equal to 15%, in
fiscal year 2018 and 2019 for net sales of Karbinal.
 

The Karbinal Agreement make-whole payment is capped at $2,100,000 each year. The Karbinal Agreement also contains minimum unit sales
commitments, which is based on a commercial year that spans from August 1 through July 31, of 70,000 units through 2025. The Company is required to pay
TRIS a royalty make whole payment of $30 for each unit under the 70,000-unit annual minimum sales commitment through 2025. The annual payment is due in
August of each year. The Karbinal Agreement also has multiple commercial milestone obligations that aggregate up to $3.0 million based on cumulative net sales,
the first of which is triggered at $40.0 million of net revenues.
 
Inventory Purchase Commitment
 

On May 1, 2020, the Company's Innovus subsidiary entered into a Settlement Agreement and Release (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Hikma
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Hikma”). Pursuant to the settlement agreement, Innovus has agreed to purchase and Hikma has agreed to manufacture a minimum
amount of our branded fluticasone propionate nasal spray USP, 50 mcg per spray (FlutiCare®), under Hikma’s FDA approved ANDA No. 207957 in the U.S. The
commitment requires Innovus to purchase three batches of product through fiscal year 2022 each of which amount to $1.0 million.
 
CVR Liability
 

On February 14, 2020, the Company closed on the Merger with Innovus Pharmaceuticals after approval by the stockholders of both companies on
February 13, 2020. Upon closing the Merger, a subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Innovus and entered into a Contingent Value Rights Agreement
(the “CVR Agreement”). Each CVR entitles its holder to receive its pro rata share, payable in cash or stock, at the option of Aytu, of certain payment amounts if
the targets are met. If any of the payment amounts is earned, they are to be paid by the end of the first quarter of the calendar year following the year in which
they are earned. Multiple revenue milestones can be earned in one year.
 

On March 31, 2020, the Company paid out the first CVR Milestone in the form of approximately 120 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock to
satisfy the $2.0 million obligation as a result of Innovus achieving the $24.0 million revenue milestone for calendar year ended December 31, 2019. As a result of
this, the Company recognized a gain of approximately $0.3 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. No additional milestone payments have been paid
as of December 31, 2020.
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Product Contingent Liability
 

In February 2015, Innovus acquired Novalere, which included the rights associated with distributing FlutiCare. As part of the Merger, Innovus is obligated to
make 5 additional payments of $0.5 million each when certain levels of FlutiCare sales are achieved. The discounted value as of December 31, 2020, is
approximately $0.2 million.
 
 
Product Milestone Payments
 

In connection with the Company’s intangible assets, Aytu has certain milestone payments, totaling $3.0 million, payable at a future date, are not directly tied
to future sales, but upon other events certain to happen. These obligations are included in the valuation of the Company’s contingent consideration (see Note 9).
 
 
11. Capital Structure
 

The Company has 200 million shares of common stock authorized with a par value of $0.0001 per share and 50 million shares of preferred stock authorized
with a par value of $0.0001 per share. On December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020, Aytu had 17,882,893 and 12,583,736 common shares outstanding,
respectively, and zero preferred shares outstanding, respectively.
 

Included in the common stock outstanding are 365,869 shares of restricted stock issued to executives, directors, employees, and consultants.
 

In June 2020, the Company initiated an at-the-market offering program, which allows the Company to sell and issue shares of our common stock from time-
to-time. The company issued 430,230 shares of common stock, with total gross proceeds of $6.8 million before deducting underwriting discounts, commissions
and other offering expenses payable by the Company of $0.2 million through December 31, 2020. The Company did not issue any shares of common stock
under the at-the-market offering program during the three months ended September 30, 2020. During the three months ended December 31, 2020, the
Company issued 352,912 shares of common stock, with total gross proceeds of approximately $3.6 million before deducting underwriting discounts,
commissions, and other offering expenses payable by the Company of $0.1 million.
 

In July 2020, the Company paid $1.5 million issuance cost in cash related to the March 10, 12, and 19 offerings (the “March Offerings”) and issued 92,302
warrants to purchase 92,302 shares of the Company's common stock with an weighted-average exercise price of $15.99 to an investment bank conjunction with
the March 2020 offerings. The warrants have a term of one year from the issuance date. These warrants had at issuance a fair value of approximately $356,000
and were valued using a Black-Scholes model.

 
On December 10, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement to exchange the $0.8 million of debt outstanding for 130,081 shares of the

Company's common stock (see Note 15).
 

    On December 10, 2020, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“Wainwright”) (as amended and restated,
the “Underwriting Agreement”). Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company agreed to sell, in an upsized firm commitment offering, 4,166,667
shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), to Wainwright at an offering price to the public of
$6.00 per share, less underwriting discounts and commissions. In addition, pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has granted Wainwright a
30-day option to purchase up to an additional 625,000 shares of Common Stock at the same offering price to the public, less underwriting discounts and
commissions. Wainwright exercised their over-allotment option in full, purchasing total common stock of 4,791,667 shares. In connection with the offering, the
Company issued 311,458 underwriter warrants to purchase up 311,458 shares of common stock. The exercise price per share of the underwriter warrants is
$7.50 (equal to 125% of the public offering price per share for the shares of common stock sold in the offering) and the underwriter warrants have a term of
five years from the date of effectiveness of the offering. The underwriter warrants will be exercisable immediately.

 

 
 
12. Equity Incentive Plan
 
Share-based Compensation Plans
 

On June 1, 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the Aytu BioScience 2015 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which, as amended
in July 2017, provides for the award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and other equity awards for up to an aggregate of 3.0 million
shares of common stock. The shares of common stock underlying any awards that are forfeited, canceled, reacquired by Aytu prior to vesting, satisfied without
any issuance of stock, expire or are otherwise terminated (other than by exercise) under the 2015 Plan will be added back to the shares of common stock
available for issuance under the 2015 Plan. On February 13, 2020, the Company’s stockholders approved an increase to 5.0 million total shares of common
stock in the 2015 Plan. As of December 31, 2020, we have 4,560,864 shares that are available for grant under the 2015 Plan.
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Stock Options
 
Employee Stock Options:
 

The fair value of the options is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In order to calculate the fair value of the options, certain
assumptions are made regarding components of the model, including the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock, risk-free interest rate, volatility,
expected dividend yield and expected option life. Changes to the assumptions could cause significant adjustments to valuation. Aytu estimates the expected term
based on the average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the options. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the
time of the grant for treasury securities of similar maturity. There were no grants of stock options to employees during the three- and six-months ended December
31, 2020 and 2019
 

Stock option activity is as follows:
 

  

Number of
Options   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life in Years   

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value  

Outstanding June 30, 2020   76,614  $ 19.39   9.67  $ - 
Granted   -   -         
Exercised   -   -         
Forfeited/Cancelled   (3,187)   -         
Expired   (2)   -         

Outstanding December 31, 2020   73,425   19.71   9.08   - 

Exercisable at December 31, 2020   9,095  $ 67.62   7.81  $ - 
 

As of December 31, 2020, there was $494,000 unrecognized option-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock options. The Company
expects to recognize this expense over a weighted-average period of 2.68 years.
 
Restricted Stock
 

Restricted stock activity is as follows:
 

  Number of Shares   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life in
Years  

Unvested at June 30, 2020   418,454  $ 14.69   6.4 
Granted             
Vested   (52,743)         
Forfeited             

Unvested at December 31, 2020   365,711  $ 15.66   6.3 
 

Under the 2015 Plan, there was $4.3 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the non-vested restricted stock as of
December 31, 2020. The Company expects to recognize this expense over a weighted-average period of 6.3 years. The Company previously issued 158 shares
of restricted stock outside the Company’s 2015 Plan, which vest in July 2026. The unrecognized expense related to these shares was $1.1 million as of
December 31, 2020 and is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of 5.5 years.
 

Stock-based compensation expense related to the fair value of stock options and restricted stock was included in the statements of operations as selling,
general and administrative expenses as set forth in the table below:
 
  Three Months Ended December 31,   Six Months Ended December 31,  

Selling, general and administrative:  2020   2019   2020   2019  
Stock options  $ 94,000  $ 2,000  $ 166,000  $ 7,000 
Restricted stock   414,000   160,000   797,000   320,000 

Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 508,000  $ 162,000  $ 963,000  $ 327,000 
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13. Warrants
 

In July 2020, the Company issued 92,302 shares of warrants with a weighted average exercise price of $15.99 in connection with the March Offerings. The
warrants have a term of one year from the issuance date. These warrants have a fair value of $356,000 and are classified within stockholders' equity.

 
On December 15, 2020, the Company issued 311,458 shares of warrants with an exercise price of $7.50 in connection with the December 15, 2020 offering.

These warrants have a fair value of approximately $1.3 million and are classified within stockholders' equity.
 
Significant assumptions in valuing the warrants issued during the quarter are as follows:
 

  

Warrants Issued
Three Months

Ended December
31, 2020  

Expected volatility   100%
Equivalent term (years)   5.0 
Risk-free rate   37%
Dividend yield   0.00%
 
A summary of equity-based warrants is as follows:
 

  

Number of
Warrants   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life in
Years  

Outstanding June 30, 2020   2,288,528  $ 30.26   2.00 
Warrants issued   403,760         
Warrants expired   (842)         
Warrants exercised   -         

Outstanding December 31, 2020   2,691,446  $ 26.94   1.65 
 
 
14. Net Loss per Common Share
 

Basic income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) available to the common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during that period. Diluted net loss per share reflects the potential of securities that could share in the net loss of the
Company. For each three-month period presented, the basic and diluted loss per share were the same for 2020 and 2019, as they were not included in the
calculation of the diluted net loss per share because they would have been anti-dilutive.
 

The following table sets-forth securities that could be potentially dilutive, but as of the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are anti-
dilutive, and therefore excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share.
 
   Three Months Ended  
   December 31,  

   2020   2019  
Warrants to purchase common stock - liability classified   24,105   24,105 
Warrant to purchase common stock - equity classified (Note 13)   2,691,446   1,621,891 
Employee stock options (Note 12)   73,425   156 
Employee unvested restricted stock (Note 12)   365,869   234,261 
Convertible preferred stock (Note 11)   -   315,115 

    3,154,845   2,195,528 
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15. Notes Payable
 

The Aytu BioScience Note.  On February 27, 2020, the Company issued a $0.8 million promissory note (the “Note”) and received consideration of
approximately $0.6 million. The Note had an eight-month term with principal and interest payable on November 1, 2020, and the recognition of approximately
$0.2 million of debt discount related to the issuance of promissory notes. The discount was amortized over the life of the promissory notes through the fourth
quarter of calendar 2020. During the three and six-months ended months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 t he Company recorded approximately $15,000
and $70,000, respectively, of related amortization. There was no amortization for the same period in 2019. On December 10, 2020, the Company agreed to
exchange the Note for 130,081 shares of the Company's common stock. The Company recognized a non-cash loss of approximately $0.3 million as a result of
this exchange, saving the Company $0.8 million in cash that otherwise would have been used to satisfy this obligation on December 31, 2020.
 

The Innovus Notes.  On January 9, 2020, prior to the completion of the merger, Innovus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a note agreement upon which
it received gross proceeds of $0.4 million with a principal amount of $0.5 million. The note requires twelve equal monthly payments of approximately $45,000. As
of December 31, 2020, the net balance of the note was $41,000.
 
 
16. Segment reporting
 

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), who is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, allocates resources and assesses
performance based on financial information of the Company. The CODM reviews financial information presented for each reportable segment for purposes of
making operating decisions and assessing financial performance.
 

The Company manages and aggregates its operational and financial information in accordance with two reportable segments: Aytu BioScience and Aytu
Consumer Health. The Aytu BioScience segment consists of the Company’s prescription products. The Aytu Consumer Health segment contains the Company’s
consumers healthcare products, which was the result of the Innovus Merger. Select financial information for these segments is as follows:
 
  Three months Ended December 31,   Six Months Ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2020   2019  
Consolidated revenue:                 

Aytu BioScience  $ 7,212,000  $ 3,175,000  $ 13,000,000  $ 4,615,000 
Aytu Consumer Health   7,935,000   -   16,000,000   - 

Consolidated revenue   15,147,000   3,175,000   29,000,000   4,615,000 
                 
Consolidated net loss:                 

Aytu BioScience   (8,267,000)   (214,000)   (11,218,000)   (5,143,000)
Aytu Consumer Health   (1,258,000)   -   (2,613,000)   - 

Consolidated net loss   (9,525,000)   (214,000)   (13,831,000)   (5,143,000)
 
  As of   As of  
  December 31,   June 30,  
  2020   2020  
Total assets:         

Aytu BioScience  $ 140,647,000  $ 126,267,000 
Aytu Consumer Health   26,095,000   26,569,000 

Total assets  $ 166,742,000  $ 152,836,000 
 
 
17. Related Party Transactions
 

Tris Pharma, Inc.
 

On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a License, Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreement (the “Tris License Agreement”). On
November 1, 2019, the Company acquired the rights to Karbinal as a result of the acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio from Cerecor, Inc. (See Notes 2 and 10).
Mr. Ketan Mehta serves as a Director on the Board of Directors of the Company and is also the Chief Executive Officer of TRIS. The Company paid TRIS
approximately $1.9 million and $0.2 million during the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively for a combination of royalty payments,
inventory purchases and other payments as contractually required. The Company’s liabilities, including accrued royalties, contingent consideration and fixed
payment obligations were $24.1 million and $24.8 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. In October 2020, the Company paid Tris
approximately $1.6 million related to its Karbinal fixed payment obligation.
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18. Subsequent Events
 

Except for below, see Footnote 1 for information relating to certain events occurring between December 31, 2020, and the filing of this report Form 10-Q,
impacting information disclosed above.

 
MiOXSYS® Licensing Agreement
 
On January 20, 2021, the Company signed an Exclusive License Agreement (the “ MiOXSYS Agreement”)  to exclusively license the intellectual property

surrounding the use of the Company's rapid in vitro diagnostic test that accurately measures seminal oxidative stress, including all components of the MiOXSYS®

commercial system (the “Product”). The Agreement has been entered into with Avrio Genetics, LLC (“Avrio Genetics”), a Pennsylvania-based limited liability
company focused on reproductive health.

 
Under the MiOXSYS Agreement, Avrio Genetics will purchase existing inventory, commercialize, and market the Product under a royalty on Product net

sales with a minimum annual payment fee structure for a term of ten (10) years, with the term continuing in perpetuity with a fixed percentage royalty rate based
on Product sales payable annually to the Company. The Company will continue to own the intellectual property in the Product, with Avrio Genetics bearing all
related patent maintenance and prosecution fees, commercial expenses, and regulatory fees. Further, Avrio Genetics will foster and expand all related customer,
manufacturing, marketing, and distribution relationships in their effort to increase the commercialization of the Product. With Avrio’s assumption of the Product-
related expenses and management of the Product programs, the Company expects to eliminate expenses associated the Product while maintain future revenue
potential in the form of royalty and minimum annual payments from Avrio Genetics.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 
This discussion should be read in conjunction with Aytu BioScience, Inc. ’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2020, filed on October 6,
2020. The following discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from
those projected in the forward-looking statements. For additional information regarding these risks and uncertainties, please see the risk factors included in Aytu’s
Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 6, 2020.
 
Overview
 

We are a commercial-stage specialty pharmaceutical company focused on commercializing novel products that address significant healthcare needs in both
prescription and consumer health categories. We are currently operate our Aytu BioScience business, consisting of the Primary Care Portfolio (the “Primary Care
Portfolio”) and Pediatric Care Portfolio (the “Pediatric Portfolio”), and our Aytu Consumer Health business (the “Consumer Health Portfolio”). Our Aytu BioScience
business is focused on prescription pharmaceutical products treating hypogonadism (low testosterone), cough and upper respiratory symptoms, insomnia, male
infertility, and various pediatric conditions. Our Consumer Health business is focused on consumer health products. We plan to expand into other therapeutic
areas as opportunities arise. Aytu was incorporated as Rosewind Corporation on August 9, 2002 in the State of Colorado. Aytu was re-incorporated in the state of
Delaware on June 8, 2015.
 

The primary care portfolio includes (i) Natesto, the only FDA-approved nasal formulation of testosterone for men with hypogonadism (low testosterone, or
"Low T"), (ii) ZolpiMist, the only FDA-approved oral spray prescription sleep aid, and (iii) Tuzistra XR, the only FDA- approved 12-hour codeine-based antitussive
syrup.
 

The pediatric care portfolio, acquired on November 1, 2019, (the “Pediatric Portfolio”), includes (i) Poly-Vi-Flor and Tri-Vi-Flor, two complementary
prescription fluoride-based supplement product lines containing combinations of fluoride and vitamins in various formulations for infants and children with fluoride
deficiency, (ii) Cefaclor, a second-generation cephalosporin antibiotic suspension; and (iii) Karbinal ER, an extended-release carbinoxamine (antihistamine)
suspension indicated to treat numerous allergic conditions.
 

On February 14, 2020 we acquired Innovus Pharmaceuticals (“Innovus”), a specialty pharmaceutical company licensing, developing and commercializing
safe and effective consumer healthcare products designed to improve health and vitality. Innovus commercializes over twenty consumer health products
competing in large healthcare categories including diabetes, men's health, sexual wellness and respiratory health. The Innovus product portfolio is
commercialized through direct-to-consumer marketing channels utilizing the Innovus’s proprietary Beyond Human® marketing and sales platform and on e-
commerce platforms.
 

On December 10, 2020, Aytu and Neutron Acquisition Sub, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary (“Merger Sub”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of
Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Neos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Neos”). The Merger Agreement provides, among other things, that on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth therein, Merger Sub will merge with and into Neos, with Neos surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Aytu (the “Neos Merger”). The
Neos Merger is subject to the approval of both the shareholders of Aytu and Neos. Based on the number of shares of our common stock anticipated to be
immediately issued to Neos stockholders upon closing of the merger (which could be impacted by changes in Neos stock price leading to exercise of options not
otherwise being assumed by Aytu or by additional issuances of Neos common stock that we may consent to) and the number of shares of our common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2020, it is expected that, immediately after completion of the merger, former Neos stockholders are expected to own
approximately 24% of the outstanding shares of the our common stock and existing Aytu stockholders are expected to own approximately 76% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, each unvested option to acquire shares of Neos common stock that is outstanding as of immediately prior
to the close of the Neos Merger  (the "Effective Time") with an exercise price equal to or less than $0.95 shall be assumed by Aytu and converted into an option
to acquire shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions. The number of shares of our common stock subject to each such assumed option
shall be equal to (i) the number of shares of Neos common stock subject to the corresponding assumed option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied
by (ii) 0.1088 (the "Exchange Ratio"), rounded down, if necessary, to the nearest whole share of our common stock, and such assumed option shall have an
exercise price per share (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (A) the exercise price per share of Neos common stock otherwise purchasable pursuant
to the corresponding assumed option divided by (B) the Exchange Ratio. As of February 5, 2021, the total estimated shares to be issued as consideration in
connection with this merger totaled approximately 5.4 million with an estimated fair value of $44.2 million. 

 
In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Aytu and Neos have entered into a Commitment Letter (the “Bridge Commitment Letter”) for

us to provide financing to Neos under an unsecured convertible note, in an aggregate amount of up to $5,000,000, subject to the terms set forth therein (the
"Bridge Financing"). Interest accrues on the principal amount outstanding under the note at a rate of 6.0% per annum, compounding monthly and commencing if
and when such Bridge Financing is provided. If an event of default has occurred and is continuing, the interest rate then in effect will be increased by 2.0% per
annum, and all overdue obligations under the note will bear interest at the interest rate in effect at such time plus the additional 2.0% per annum. Our rights
under the note, including rights to payment, are subordinated to the rights of Neos’s existing senior lenders. The maturity date of the note is the earlier of the
acceleration of the obligations evidenced thereby and November 7, 2022. In the event that Neos draws down on the note, the exchange ratio will be adjusted
downward by an amount equal to 0.00011 for every $100,000 of financing funded to Neos under the note.

 
In April of 2020, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Cedars-Sinai Medical Center to secure worldwide rights to various potential uses of

Healight, an investigational medical device platform technology. Healight has demonstrated safety and efficacy in pre-clinical studies, and we plan to advance
this technology and assess its safety and efficacy in human studies, initially focused on COVID-19 patients.
 

We recently established a purchasing relationship with a U.S. supplier of Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) authorized antigen tests. Antigen tests
rapidly detect the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 virus antigen via a nasopharyngeal swab and are used without laboratory equipment. Demand for rapid antigen
tests has increased in recent months across the U.S.

Our strategy is to continue building our portfolio of revenue-generating products, leveraging our focused commercial team and expertise to build leading
brands within large therapeutic markets.

 
Strategic Growth Initiatives
 

Pursuant to our strategy of identifying and acquiring complimentary assets and companies, we expect to substantially increase our revenue generating
capacity and provide opportunities to reduce our combined operating losses through a combination of our recent acquisitions during the twelve months ended
June 30, 2020, coupled with the December 10, 2020 announcement of our planto merge with Neos. The combined impact of these transactions on revenue and
operating expenses is expected to position us to achieve positive cash flow earlier than previously expected.
 

 Strategic Rx Acquisitions. On December 10, 2020, we entered in a Merger Agreement with Neos Therapeutics, Inc. The merger is subject the approval
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by shareholders of both Aytu and Neos. The merger can accelerate our path to profitability, with estimated annualized cost synergies of up to approximately $15M
beginning FY 2022. Neos’ established, multi-brand ADHD portfolio, will enhance our footprint in pediatrics and expanding our presence in adjacent specialty care
segments. Opportunity to leverage and further enhance Neos RxConnect, a best-in-class patient support program, for our product portfolio of best-in-class
prescription therapeutics, and potentially, our consumer health products.
 

On November 1 2019, we acquired the Cerecor, Inc.'s ("Cerecor") portfolio of prescription pediatric therapeutics (the “Pediatric Portfolio”). The Pediatric
Portfolio consists of four pharmaceutical and other prescription products consisting of (i) Cefaclor for Oral Suspension, (ii) Karbinal ER, (iii) Poly- Vi-Flor, and (iv)
Tri-Vi-Flor. . Total consideration transferred consisted of $4.5 million cash and approximately 9.8 million shares of Series G Convertible Preferred Stock, plus the
assumption not more than $3.5 million of Medicaid rebates and products returns. In addition, we hired the majority of the Cerecor’s workforce focused on
commercial sales, commercial contracts, and customer relationships.
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We have assumed obligations due to an investor including fixed and variable payments. We assumed fixed monthly payments equal to $0.1 million from
November 2019 through January 2021 plus $15 million due in January 2021. Monthly variable payments due to the same investor are equal to 15% of net
revenue generated from a subset of the Product Portfolio, subject to an aggregate monthly minimum of $0.1 million, except for January 2020, when a one-time
payment of $0.2 million was due and paid. The variable payment obligation continues until the earlier of: (i) aggregate variable payments of approximately $9.5
million have been made, or (ii) February 12, 2026. The Company subsequently paid down the $15 million balloon payment early in June 2020, removing this
obligation from our balance sheet.
 

Further, certain of the products in the Pediatric Portfolio require royalty payments ranging from 15% to 38.0% of net revenue. One of the products in the
Pediatric Portfolio requires us to generate minimum annual sales sufficient to represent annual royalties of approximately $1.75 million.
 

Consumer Health Acquisitions.  On February 14, 2020, we closed on the merger with Innovus Pharmaceuticals after approval by the stockholders of both
companies on February 13, 2020. The acquisition of Innovus has enabled the company to expand into the consumer healthcare market with Innovus’ over-the-
counter medicines and other consumer health products. We expect Innovus to continue to develop additional consumer healthcare products and expand its
product portfolio. This, we expect, will drive additional revenue for the consumer health subsidiary and contribute meaningfully to the company's overall revenue
growth.
 

Additionally, we expect to continue to participate in the U.S. COVID-19 testing market. We have purchased 1,600,000 COVID-19 IgG/IgM rapid antibody
tests from Zhejiang Orient Gene Biotech Limited via our distribution agreement with L.B. Resources, Ltd. We also signed an exclusive license with Cedars-Sinai
Medical Center for rights to a medical device technology platform that is a prospective treatment for COVID-19 for seriously ill patients in the ICU. We expect to
advance this technology through development and, if proven clinically effective and able to be manufactured at scale, expect to commercialize this product in the
future.
 

In the near-term, we expect to create value for shareholders by implementing a focused strategy of increasing sales of our prescription therapeutics while
leveraging our commercial infrastructure. Further, we expect to increase sales of our consumer healthcare product portfolio. Additionally, we expect to expand
both our Rx and consumer health product portfolios through continuous business and product development. Finally, we expect to identify operational efficiencies
identified through our recent transactions and implement expense reductions accordingly.
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to recoverability and useful lives of long-lived assets, stock compensation, valuation
of derivative instruments, allowances, contingent consideration, contingent value rights ("CVR"), fixed payment arrangements and going concern. Management
bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors, including COVID-19, that the Company believes to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The methods, estimates, and judgments used by us in
applying these critical accounting policies have a significant impact on the results we report in our consolidated financial statements. Our significant accounting
policies and estimates are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, filed with the SEC on October 6, 2020.
 

Information regarding our accounting policies and estimates can be found in the Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

Information regarding the recently issued accounting standards (adopted and pending adoption as of December 31, 2020) are presented in Note 1 to the
condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Results of Operations – Three and Six Months Ended December 31, 2020  compared to the Three and Six Months Ended December 31, 2019
 
  

  

Three months Ended December
31,          

  2020   2019   Change   %  
                 
Revenues                 

Product and service revenue, net  $ 15,147,034  $ 3,175,236  $ 11,971,798   377%
Operating expenses                 

Cost of sales   5,998,389   606,046   5,392,343   890%
Research and development   286,572   66,675   219,897   330%
Selling, general and administrative   12,852,614   6,516,160   6,336,454   97%
Amortization of intangible assets   1,584,581   953,450   631,131   66%

Total operating expenses   20,722,156   8,142,331   12,579,825   154%
Loss from operations   (5,575,122)   (4,967,095)   (608,027)   12%

Other (expense) income                 
Other (expense), net   (378,958)   (446,958)   68,000   -15%
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,313,656)   -   (3,313,656)   − 
Gain from derecognition of contingent consideration   -   5,199,806   (5,199,806)   -100%
Loss on debt exchange   (257,559)   -   (257,559)   − 

Total other (expense) income   (3,950,173)   4,752,848   (8,703,021)   -183%
Net loss  $ (9,525,295)  $ (214,247)  $ (9,311,048)   4346%
                 
                 
                 
                 
  Six Months Ended December 31,          
  2020   2019   Change    %
                 
Revenues                 

Product and service revenue, net  $ 28,667,280  $ 4,615,062  $ 24,052,218   521%
Operating expenses                 

Cost of sales   9,817,545   981,766   8,835,779   900%
Research and development   469,437   144,695   324,742   224%
Selling, general and administrative   24,342,983   11,662,603   12,680,380   109%
Amortization of intangible assets   3,169,161   1,528,567   1,640,594   107%

Total operating expenses   37,799,126   14,317,631   23,481,495   164%
Loss from operations   (9,131,846)   (9,702,569)   570,723   -6%

Other (expense) income                 
Other (expense), net   (1,130,499)   (642,344)   (488,155)   76%
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration   (3,311,320)   -   (3,311,320)   − 
Gain from derecognition of contingent consideration   -   5,199,806   (5,199,806)   -100%
Gain from warrant derivative liability   -   1,830   (1,830)   -100%
Loss on debt exchange   (257,559)   -   (257,559)   − 

Total other (expense) income   (4,699,378)   4,559,292   (9,258,670)   -203%
Net loss  $ (13,831,224)  $ (5,143,277)  $ (8,687,947)   169%
 

Product revenue. We recognized net revenue from product sales of approximately $15.1 million and $3.2 million for the three months ended December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We recognized net revenue from product sales of approximately $28.7 and $4.6 million for the six months ended December 31,
2020, and 2019, respectively. The increase was primarily driven by the acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio on November 1, 2019 and Consumer Health Portfolio
on February 14, 2020, as well as additional revenues from COVID-19 test kit sales. 

 
Cost of sales. We incurred the cost of sales of $6.0 million and $0.6 million recognized for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,

respectively. We incurred the cost of sales $9.8 million and $1.0 million for the six months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase was
primarily driven by the acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio on November 1, 2019 and Innovus (a/k/a Consumer Health Portfolio) on February 14, 2020, as well as
additional sales from COVID-19 test kit sales. 
 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased $0.2 million, or 230%, for the three months ended December 31, 2020,
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2019. Research and development expenses increased approximately $0.3 million, or 224% for the six
months ended December 31, 2020, compared to the six months ended December 31, 2019. The increase was due primarily to costs associated with the
Company’s Healight Platform license and initial development and clinical costs.
 

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative costs increased $6.3 million, or 97%, for the three months ended December 31,
2020, compared the three months ended December 31, 2019. Selling, general and administrative costs increased $12.7 million, or approximately 109% for the
six months ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to the Pediatric Portfolio and Innovus acquisition that occurred in the prior year ended
June 30, 2020, of which, only the Pediatric Portfolio was a component of our financial results for November and December of 2019.
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Amortization of Intangible Assets. Amortization expense for the remaining intangible assets was approximately $1.6 million and $1.0 million for the for
the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Amortization expense for the remaining intangible assets was approximately $3.2 million
and $1.5 million, respectively, for the six months ended December 31, 2020. This expense is related to corresponding amortization of our finite-lived intangible
assets. The increase of this expense is due to the Pediatric Portfolio acquisition from Cerecor and Innovus Merger that occurred in the 2020 fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020.
 

Interest (expense) income, net. Interest (expense) income, net for the three months ended December 31, 2020, was expense of approximately
$0.4 million, compared to expenses of $0.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019. Interest (expense) income, net for the six months ended
December 31, 2020, was expense of approximately $1.1 million, compared to interest expense of $0.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019.
The increase was primarily due to the accretion and interest expense resulting from the assumed fixed payment obligations and other long-term liabilities that
arose from the (i) November 1, 2019 acquisition of the Pediatric Portfolio from Cerecor, Inc. and (ii) the February 14, 2020, Merger with Innovus.

 
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration.  We recognized a loss of approximately $2.5 million from the change in the fair value of the

ZolpiMist and Tuzistra contingent consideration liability and a loss of approximately $0.8 million from the change in fair value of the contingent value rights
("CVR's") liability related to the Innovus Merger.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $62.3 million of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. Our operations have historically consumed
cash and are expected to continue to require cash, but at a declining rate.
 

Revenues for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020,  were approximately $15.1 million and $28.7 million, compared to $3.2 million and $4.6
million for the same periods ended December 31, 2019, an increase of 377% and 521%, respectively. Revenues increased 277% and 100% for each of the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Revenue is expected to increase over time, which will allow us to rely less on our existing cash balance and
proceeds from financing transactions. Cash used by operations during the three and six-months ended December 31, 2020  was $10.9 million compared to
$9.1 million for the three and six-months ended December 31, 2019 . The increase is due primarily to an increase in working capital and pay down of other
liabilities.
 

As of the date of this report, we expect costs for current operations to increase modestly as we continue to integrate the acquisition of the Pediatrics
Portfolio and Innovus and continue to focus on revenue growth through increasing product sales. Our current assets totaling approximately $92.5 million as of
December 31, 2020, plus the proceeds expected from ongoing product sales will be used to fund existing operations. We may continue to access the capital
markets from time-to-time when market conditions are favorable. The timing and amount of capital that may be raised is dependent the terms and conditions
upon which investors would require to provide such capital. There is no guarantee that capital will be available on terms favorable to us and our stockholders,
or at all. We raised approximately $29.6 million, net during the three months ended December 31, 2020, from the sale of approximately 0.4 million
shares using the Company’s at-the-market facility and from the issuance of approximately 4.8 million shares of our common stock and 0.3 million placement
agent warrants on the December 15, 2020 offering. Finally, on December 10, 2020, we exchanged $0.8 million of debt into 0.1 million shares of our common
stock, reducing the need to use cash to satisfy this obligation. Between December 31, 2020, and the filing date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, we have
not issued any common stock under our at-the-market offering program. As of the date of this report, we have adequate capital resources to complete
our near-term operating objectives. 

 
Since we have sufficient cash on-hand as of December 31, 2020, to cover potential net cash outflows for the twelve months following the filing date of this

Quarterly Report, we report that there is no indication of substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
 

If we are unable to raise adequate capital in the future when it is required, we can adjust our operating plans to reduce the magnitude of the capital needs
under our existing operating plan. Some of the adjustments that could be made include delays of and reductions to commercial programs, reductions in
headcount, narrowing the scope of our commercial plans, or reductions to its research and development programs. Without sufficient operating capital, we could
be required to relinquish rights to products or renegotiate to maintain such rights on less favorable terms than it would otherwise choose. This may lead to
impairment or other charges, which could materially affect our balance sheet and operating results.
 

The following table shows cash flows for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
 

  
Six Months Ended December

31,  
  2020   2019  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (10,900,299)  $ (9,087,054)
Net cash used in investing activities   (46,683)   (5,954,635)
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 24,898,281  $ 9,258,350 
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Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
 

During the six-months ended December 31, 2020 , our operating activities used $10.9 million in cash, which was less than the net loss of $13.8 million,
primarily due to the non-cash depreciation, amortization and accretion, stock-based compensation, and loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration
and CVR, a decrease in inventory and an increase in accrued liabilities. These charges were offset by increases in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, and
other current assets and decreases in accounts payables and accrued compensation.
 

During the six-months ended December 31, 2019 , our operating activities used $9.1 million in cash, which was greater than the net loss of $5.1 million,
primarily as a result of derecognition of contingent consideration and an increase in accounts receivable, offset by the non-cash depreciation, amortization and
accretion, stock-based compensation charges to earnings, coupled with an increase in accounts payable.
 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
 

During the six-months ended December 31, 2020 , we made a payment of $0.05 million in contingent consideration.
 

During the six-months ended December 31, 2019 , we issued a note receivable to Innovus totaling $1.4 million. We also used $4.5 million for the Cerecor
acquisition and we paid $105,000 in contingent consideration.
 
Net Cash from Financing Activities
 

Net cash provided by financing activities in the six-months ended December 31, 2020,  was $24.9 million. This was primarily related to the December 2020
offering for gross proceeds cost of $28.8 million offset by the offering cost of $2.6 million. We also completed the ATM offering with gross proceeds of $3.5 million,
which was offset by the offering cost of $1.7 million, driven by a one-time payment in July 2020 of approximately $1.5 million. We paid approximately $2.8 million
related to fixed payment obligation and $0.3 million of debt. 
 

Net cash provided by financing activities in the six-months ended December 31, 2019,  was $9.3 million. This was primarily related to the October 2019
Offering for gross proceeds of $10.0 million, offset by the offering cost of $0.7 million which was paid in cash.
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not have off-balance sheet arrangements, financings, or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons, also known as “variable
interest entities.”
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 

Information regarding our Contractual Obligations and Commitments is contained in Note 10 to the Financial Statements.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 

We are not currently exposed to material market risk arising from financial instruments, changes in interest rates or commodity prices, or fluctuations in
foreign currencies. We have not identified a need to hedge against any of the foregoing risks and therefore currently engage in no hedging activities.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, an evaluation was carried out by our management, with the participation of the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and are operating in an effective
manner.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting, except as described below, known to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief
Financial Officer that occurred during the period covered by this Report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
 

The Company’s assessment over changes in our internal controls over financial reporting excluded those processes or controls that exist at our Aytu
Consumer Health reporting unit which we acquired from the February 14, 2020, Innovus Merger are being evaluated internally, and any changes as a result of
that evaluation will be disclosed in future filings. 
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 

 
Hikma. On May 8, 2017, Innovus entered into a Supply Agreement with Hikma (formerly West-Ward Pharmaceuticals Corp.) for the supply of FlutiCare®,

a branded fluticasone propionate nasal spray. During the second year of the Supply Agreement, Innovus received multiple shipments of FlutiCare® products
containing non-compliant labelling due to defective label adhesive. Following that Hikma and Innovus began negotiations to settle the issues relating to the
defective products and the status of the Supply Agreement. On May 1, 2020, Hikma and Innovus (now a Company subsidiary) entered into the Settlement
Agreement requiring Innovus to purchase three batches of FlutiCare® through the fiscal year 2022 at a price of $1 million per batch in exchange for Hikma
agreeing to a product quality threshold and inspection and qualification of the product by a third party.

 
Marin County DA . On August 24, 2018, Innovus received a letter from the Marin County District Attorney’s Office (the “Marin DA”) demanding

substantiation for certain advertising claims made by Innovus related to DiabaSens®, and Apeaz®, which were sold and marketed in Marin County, California.
The Marin DA is part of a larger Northern California task force comprising of district attorney offices from ten counties that agree to handle customer protection
matters. Innovus responded to the Marin DA through its regulatory counsel in November 2018 and continued to exchange correspondence with the Marin DA
through April 2019. In June 2019, Innovus met with the Northern California task force. In March 2020, Innovus (now a Company subsidiary) entered into a
Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgement (the “Stipulation”), pursuant to which Innovus agreed to the following: (i) certain injunctive relief relating the advertising
and sale of DiabaSens®, and Apeaz®; (ii) to pay a civil penalty of $150,000; (iii) to reimburse investigative costs of $11,500; and (iv) to pay restitution of $43,000.
In May 2020, the Marin DA filed the judgement with the Superior Court for the County of Monterrey and the parties are waiting for the judge to approve the
stipulation.
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Pliscott. Between November 20, 2019 and December 17, 2019, four putative class action lawsuits were filed in Delaware state and federal courts in
connection with: (i) Aytu’s proposal to approve, in accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5635(d), the convertibility of the Company’s Series F convertible
preferred stock and the exercisability of certain warrants, in each case, issued in a private placement offering that closed on October 16, 2019 (the “Nasdaq Rule
5635(d) Proposal”); (ii) Aytu’s proposal to approve an amendment to its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of its authorized shares of common
stock from 100,000,000 to 120,000,000 shares of common stock (the “Authorized Share Increase Proposal”); and (iii) Aytu’s proposal to approve the adjournment
of the special meeting, if necessary, to continue to solicit votes for the Nasdaq Rule 5635(d) Proposal and/or the Authorized Share Increase Proposal
(“Adjournment Proposal” and, together with the Nasdaq Rule 5635(d) Proposal and the Authorized Share Increase Proposal, the “Proposal”). Three lawsuits were
filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware: Carl Pliscott v. Joshua R. Disbrow, et al.  , Case No. 2019-0933, filed on November 20, 2019 (the “Pliscott
Action”); Adam Kirschenbaum v. Aytu Bioscience, Inc., et al.  , Case No. 2019-0984, filed on December 10, 2019 (the “Kirschenbaum lawsuit”); and Michael
Sebree v. Josh Disbrow, et al. , Case No. 2019-1011, filed on December 17, 2019 (the “Sebree Action”). The Kirschenbaum Action and Sebree Action were both
assigned to Chancellor Andre G. Bouchard. The Pliscott Action was removed to the United States District Court for the District of Delaware on December 5, 2019,
captioned as Carl Pliscott v. Joshua R. Disbrow, et al. , Case No. 19-cv-02228-UNA, but was remanded to the Court of Chancery and assigned to Chancellor
Andre G. Bouchard on January 14, 2020. One lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware and assigned to Chief Judge
Leonard P. Stark: Adam Franchi v. Aytu Bioscience, Inc., et al. , Case No. 19-cv-02204- LPS, filed on November 26, 2019 (the “Franchi Action”). The Pliscott
Action, Kirschenbaum Action, and Sebree Action alleged that the members of the Aytu board breached their fiduciary duties to Aytu stockholders by failing to
disclose all information material to the Proposals. The Franchi Action alleged that Aytu and the individual members of the Aytu board violated Sections 14(a) and
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and Rule 14a-9, promulgated thereunder) by virtue of allegedly false and misleading statements contained in the
proxy statement filed by Aytu on November 21, 2019. All four lawsuits sought, among other things, declaratory relief allowing the action to be maintained as a
class action, injunctive relief prohibiting any stockholder vote on the Proposals or other consummation of the Proposals, damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and
other and further relief. The Sebree Action further sought injunctive relief prohibiting consummation of the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 10, 2019.
Aytu and the board have asserted that all claims asserted are meritless and vigorously defended against the four lawsuits. On January 30, 2020, the parties in the
Pliscott Action, Kirschenbaum Action, and Sebree Action filed a stipulation voluntarily dismissing the cases as moot, with plaintiffs reserving the right to seek
mootness fees. On February 5, 2020, the Chancery Court dismissed the cases while retaining jurisdiction to adjudicate anticipated mootness fee motions. No
mootness fee motion has been filed to date. At this stage, it is not otherwise possible to predict the effect of lawsuits on Aytu.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 

In addition to other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our
Annual Report, which could materially affect our business, financial condition, cash flows, and/or future results. The risk factors in our Annual Report are not the
only risks facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and/or future results. There are no additional risk factors other than those contained in our Annual Report.

 
Risks Related to the Merger

 
            Because the Exchange Ratio is fixed and the market price of Aytu common stock may fluctuate, Neos stockholders cannot be certain of the
precise value of the stock consideration they may receive in the merger.
 

         The Exchange Ratio is fixed and will only be adjusted in certain limited circumstances (including the Bridge Note Adjustment, recapitalizations,
reclassifications, stock splits or combinations, exchanges, mergers, consolidations or readjustments of shares, or stock dividends or similar transactions
involving Aytu or Neos) and the value of the stock consideration will depend on the market price of Aytu common stock at the time the transaction is
completed. Time will elapse from the date of the Merger Agreement, when the Exchange Ratio was established, until each of the date of this joint proxy
statement/prospectus, the date on which Neos stockholders vote to approve the Merger Agreement at the Neos special meeting, the date the Aytu
stockholders approve the merger consideration, including the Common Stock Issuance, at the Aytu special meeting and the date on which Neos stockholders
entitled to receive shares of Aytu common stock under the Merger Agreement actually receive such shares. The market value of Aytu common stock may
fluctuate during these periods as a result of a variety of factors, including, among others, general market and economic conditions, changes in Aytu’s
businesses, operations and prospects and regulatory considerations, federal, state and local legislation, governmental regulation and legal developments in
the businesses in which Aytu operates, any potential stockholder litigation related to the merger, market assessments of the likelihood that the transaction will
be completed, the timing of the transaction and the anticipated dilution to holders of Aytu common stock as a result of the issuance of the merger
consideration. Many of these factors are outside of the control of Aytu and Neos. The closing trading price per share of Neos common stock as of December 9,
2020, the last trading date before the public announcement of the Merger Agreement, was $0.55, and the closing trading price per share has fluctuated as high
as $0.933 and as low as $0.625 between that date and February 5, 2021. The closing trading price per share of Aytu common stock as of December 9, 2020,
the last trading date before the public announcement of the Merger Agreement, was $6.83 and the closing trading price per share has fluctuated as high as
$8.35 and as low as $5.98 between that date and February 5, 2021. Consequently, at the time Neos stockholders must decide whether to approve the Merger
Agreement, they will not know the actual market value of the shares of Aytu common stock they may receive when the merger is completed. The actual value
of the shares of Aytu common stock to be issued to Neos stockholders who receive stock consideration will depend on the market value of shares of Aytu
common stock on the date of issuance. This value will not be known at the time of the Neos special meeting and may be more or less than the current price of
Aytu common stock or the price of Aytu common stock at the time of the Neos special meeting. Neos stockholders should obtain current stock quotations for
shares of Aytu common stock before voting their shares of Neos common stock. For additional information about the merger consideration, see the section
entitled “The Merger Agreement — Merger Consideration .” 

 
The market price of shares of Aytu common stock after the merger will continue to fluctuate and may be affected by factors different from

those that are currently affecting or historically have affected the market price of shares of Neos common stock or Aytu common stock.
 

              Upon completion of the merger, holders of shares of Neos common stock will become holders of shares of Aytu common stock. The market price of
Aytu common stock may fluctuate significantly following completion of the merger, and holders of shares of Neos common stock could lose the value of their
investment in Aytu common stock if, among other things, the combined company is unable to achieve the expected growth in earnings, or if the operational
cost savings estimates in connection with the integration of the Neos and Aytu business are not realized, or if the transaction costs relating to the merger are
greater than expected. The market price also may decline if the combined company does not achieve the perceived benefits of the merger as rapidly or to the
extent anticipated by financial or industry analysts or if the effect of the merger on the combined company’s financial position, results of operations or cash
flows is not consistent with the expectations of financial or industry analysts. The issuance of shares of Aytu common stock in the merger could on its own
have the effect of depressing the market price for Aytu common stock. In addition, many Neos stockholders may decide not to hold the shares of Aytu
common stock they receive as a result of the merger. Other Neos stockholders, such as funds with limitations on their permitted holdings of stock in individual
issuers, may be required to sell the shares of Aytu common stock they receive as a result of the merger. Any such sales of Aytu common stock could have the
effect of depressing the market price for Aytu common stock.  In addition, in the future Aytu may issue additional securities to raise capital. Aytu may also
acquire interests in other companies by issuing Aytu common stock to finance the acquisition, in whole or in part. Aytu may also issue securities convertible
into Aytu common stock.  Moreover, general fluctuations in stock markets could have a material adverse effect on the market for, or liquidity of, the Aytu
common stock, regardless of Aytu’s actual operating performance.

 
The businesses of Aytu differ from those of Neos in important respects and, accordingly, the results of operations of the combined company after the

merger, as well as the market price of shares of Aytu common stock, may be affected by factors different from those that are currently affecting, historically
have affected or would in the future affect the results of operations of Neos and Aytu as stand-alone public companies, as well as the market price of shares of
Neos common stock and Aytu common stock prior to completion of the merger.

 
Current Aytu and Neos stockholders will have a reduced ownership and voting interest in Aytu after the merger.  

 
Upon the completion of the merger, each Neos stockholder who receives shares of Aytu common stock will become a stockholder of Aytu with a

percentage ownership of Aytu that is substantially smaller than the stockholder’s current percentage ownership of Neos. Accordingly, the former Neos
stockholders would exercise significantly less influence over Aytu after the merger relative to their influence over Neos prior to the merger, and thus would
have a less significant impact on the approval or rejection of future Aytu proposals submitted to a stockholder vote. Immediately upon consummation of the
merger, pre-closing Neos stockholders (other than Aytu and its subsidiaries) are expected to own approximately 24% of the outstanding shares of Aytu
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common stock and pre-closing Aytu stockholders are expected to own approximately 76% of the outstanding shares of Aytu common stock.
 

Aytu and Neos are subject to restrictive interim operating covenants during the pendency of the merger.
 

Until the merger is completed, the Merger Agreement restricts each of Aytu and Neos from taking specified actions without the consent of the other
party, and requires each of Aytu and Neos to operate in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. Neos is subject to a number of
customary interim operating covenants relating to, among other things, its capital expenditures, incurrence of indebtedness, entry into or amendment of certain
types of agreements, issuances of securities and changes in director, officer, employee and independent contractor compensation. Although less restrictive
than those imposed on Neos, the Merger Agreement also imposes certain restrictive interim operating covenants on Aytu. These restrictions may prevent Aytu
and/or Neos from making appropriate changes to their respective businesses or pursuing financing transactions or attractive business opportunities that may
arise prior to the completion of the merger. See the section entitled “The Merger Agreement – Conduct of Business Pending the Merger ” for a description of
the restrictive covenants applicable to Aytu and Neos, respectively.

 
Aytu and Neos directors and officers have interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of Aytu

stockholders and Neos stockholders.
 

Certain executive officers of Aytu participated in the negotiation of the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Aytu Board approved the Merger
Agreement and the merger consideration, including the Common Stock Issuance, and determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereby, including the merger consideration, are advisable and in the best interests of Aytu and its stockholders. The Neos Board approved the
Merger Agreement and determined that the Merger Agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are fair to,
advisable and in the best interests of Neos and its stockholders. In considering these facts and the other information contained in this joint proxy
statement/prospectus, you should be aware that certain of Aytu’s directors and executive officers and certain of Neos’ directors and executive officers have
interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of Aytu’s or Neos’ stockholders. For example, some Neos directors will serve
as Aytu directors. These interests are described in more detail in the sections entitled “Interests of Neos’ Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger. ”

 
Certain officers and directors of Aytu and Neos, have agreed to vote in favor of the merger consideration and the Merger Agreement, as

applicable, regardless of how other Aytu and Neos stockholders vote.
 

Concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, certain officers and directors of Aytu and Neos holding approximately 2% and
1%, respectively, of the companies’ outstanding voting shares entered into voting agreements with Neos and Aytu, as applicable (the “Voting Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Voting Agreements, each of the stockholders of Aytu and Neos, as applicable, have agreed, among other things, to vote their shares of Aytu
common stock, or Neos common stock, as applicable, that such stockholder owns in favor of the issuance of shares of Aytu common stock in connection with
the merger, or the merger proposal, as applicable. Accordingly, the Voting Agreements make it more likely that the necessary Aytu and Neos stockholder
approval will be received for the merger consideration and the Merger Agreement than would be the case in the absence of the voting agreements.

 
The Aytu Board and the Neos Board have not requested, and do not anticipate requesting, an updated opinion from their respective

financial advisors reflecting changes in circumstances that may have occurred since the signing of the Merger Agreement.
 

The opinions rendered to the respective boards of directors of Aytu and Neos by Cowen and MTS, respectively, were provided in connection with the
Aytu Board’s and the Neos Board’s respective evaluation of the merger. Neither the Aytu Board nor the Neos Board has obtained an updated opinion from
Cowen or MTS, respectively, as of the date of this joint proxy statement/prospectus or as of any other date, and the Aytu Board and the Neos Board have not
requested, and do not anticipate requesting, an updated opinion from their respective financial advisors reflecting changes in circumstances that may have
occurred since the signing of the Merger Agreement. As a result, neither the Aytu Board nor the Neos Board will receive an updated, revised or reaffirmed
opinion prior to the consummation of the merger. Changes in the operations and prospects of Aytu or Neos, general market and economic conditions and
other factors that may be beyond the control of Aytu or Neos, including the social, political and economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, may significantly
alter the value of Aytu or Neos or the prices of Aytu common stock or Neos common stock by the time the merger is consummated. The opinions of Cowen
and MTS speak as of the date each opinion was rendered, and do not speak as of the time the merger will be consummated or as of any date other than the
date of each such opinion. The opinions of Cowen and MTS do not address the fairness of the Exchange Ratio, from a financial point of view, at any time
other than the time each such opinion was delivered.
 
               Failure to consummate the merger could negatively impact respective future stock prices, operations and financial results of Aytu and
Neos.

 
If the merger is not consummated for any reason, the ongoing businesses of Aytu and/or Neos may be adversely affected, and Aytu and Neos will be

subject to a number of risks, including the following:
 

 
 • being required to pay a termination fee to the other party under certain circumstances provided in the Merger Agreement;

 
 • having to pay certain costs related to the merger, including, but not limited to, fees paid to legal, accounting and financial advisors, filing fees and

printing costs;
 

 • declines in the stock prices of Aytu common stock and Neos common stock to the extent that the current market prices reflect a market
assumption that the merger will be consummated; and

 

 
• any negative impact of having the focus of management of each of Aytu and Neos on the merger, which may have the effect of diverting

management’s attention and potentially causing Aytu or Neos, as applicable, not to pursue opportunities that could have been beneficial to Aytu
or Neos, as applicable.

 
 

If the merger is not completed, Aytu and Neos cannot assure their stockholders that these risks will not materialize and will not materially adversely
affect the business, financial results and stock prices of Aytu or Neos. In addition, if the merger with Aytu does not close, Neos may be required to seek other
strategic alternatives, including but not limited to, strategic partnerships, a potential business combination or a sale of Neos or its business, or otherwise
reduce its operations. There can be no assurance that Neos would be able to take any of these actions or that any effort to sell additional debt or equity
securities would be successful or would raise sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations, including the May 2021 debt payment of $15.0 million due to
Deerfield. If additional financing is not available when required or is not available on acceptable terms, Neos may need to curtail, delay, modify or abandon its
commercialization plans for its marketed products, reduce its investment in the development of its product candidate and Neos may be unable to take
advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, which could have a material adverse effect on Neos’ revenue, results of operations
and financial condition. To preserve Neos’ cash resources, it may be required to reorganize its operations, such as through a reduction in force with respect to
one or more functions within Neos or across Neos. If Neos is unable to fund its operations without additional external financing and therefore cannot sustain
future operations, it may be required to cease its operations and/or seek bankruptcy protection.

 
In addition, if the merger does not close, Neos may be required to effectuate a reverse stock split of its common stock to increase the per-

share market price of Neos common stock to satisfy the Minimum Bid Price Rule under the Nasdaq rules so that Neos common stock, which will remain
outstanding and registered under the Exchange Act, will be able to regain compliance with the applicable continued listing standards of Nasdaq and avoid
being delisted from Nasdaq Global.

 
The merger may disrupt the attention of Aytu’s management or Neos’ management from ongoing business operations.

 
Each of Aytu and Neos has expended, and expects to continue to expend, significant management resources to complete the merger. Their respective

management’s attention may be diverted away from the day-to-day operations of their respective businesses, implementing initiatives to improve performance
and executing existing business plans in an effort to complete the merger. This diversion of management resources could disrupt their respective operations
and may have an adverse effect on their respective businesses, financial conditions and results of operations.

Aytu and Neos stockholders will not be entitled to appraisal or dissenters’ rights in the merger.
 

Appraisal rights are statutory rights that, if applicable under law, enable stockholders to dissent from an extraordinary transaction, such as a merger,
and to demand that the corporation pay the fair value for their shares as determined by a court in a judicial proceeding instead of receiving the consideration
offered to stockholders in connection with the extraordinary transaction. Appraisal rights are not available in all circumstances, and exceptions to these rights
are provided under the DGCL. In the merger, because Neos common stock is listed on the Nasdaq, and because Neos stockholders are not required to accept
in the merger any consideration in exchange for their shares of Neos common stock other than shares of Aytu common stock, which is listed on the Nasdaq,
and cash in lieu of fractional shares (if applicable), holders of Neos common stock will not be entitled to any appraisal rights in connection with the merger with
respect to their shares of Neos common stock.
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Under Delaware law, Aytu stockholders are also not entitled to appraisal or dissenters’ rights in connection with the Aytu share issuance proposal.
 

Aytu and Neos may have difficulty attracting, motivating and retaining executives and other key employees in light of the merger.  
 

Aytu’s success after the transaction will depend in part on the ability of Aytu to retain key executives and other employees of Neos. Uncertainty about
the effect of the merger on Aytu and Neos employees may have an adverse effect on each of Aytu and Neos separately and consequently the combined
business. This uncertainty may impair Aytu’s and/or Neos’ ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel. Employee retention may be particularly
challenging during the pendency of the merger, as employees of Aytu and Neos may experience uncertainty about their future roles in the combined business.

 
Furthermore, if key employees of Aytu or Neos depart or are at risk of departing, including because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of

integration, financial security or a desire not to become employees of the combined business, Aytu may have to incur significant costs in retaining such
individuals or in identifying, hiring and retaining replacements for departing employees and may lose significant expertise and talent, and the combined
company’s ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the merger may be materially and adversely affected. No assurance can be given that the combined
company will be able to attract or retain key employees to the same extent that Neos has been able to attract or retain employees in the past.

 
Completion of the merger is subject to a number of other conditions, and if these conditions are not satisfied or waived, the merger will not

be completed. 
 

The obligations of Aytu and Neos to complete the merger are subject to satisfaction or waiver of a number of conditions including (1) the approval of
the merger proposal by a majority of the holders of the outstanding shares of Neos common stock, (2) approval of the issuance of Aytu common stock by a
majority of the votes cast by Aytu stockholders on the matter, (3) that the conditions to the Debt Facility Letters have been satisfied as of the time of closing,
and that the lenders do not dispute the satisfaction thereof, (4) accuracy of each party’s representations and warranties, subject to certain materiality
standards set forth in the Merger Agreement, (5) the absence of a material adverse effect of either party and (6) compliance in all material respects with each
party’s obligations under the Merger Agreement and certain other conditions. There can be no assurance that the conditions to closing the merger will be
satisfied or waived or that the merger will be completed within the expected time frame, or at all.

 
Aytu will assume a significant amount of debt in the merger, which, together with Aytu’s other debt, could limit Aytu’s operational flexibility

or otherwise adversely affect Aytu’s financial condition. 
 

If the merger closes, Aytu will indirectly assume approximately $30.6 million of term debt currently owed by Neos, of which $15.0 million will be due
upon the closing of the merger, $0.6 will come due in April 2021, and $15.0 million which is due in May 2022. If Aytu fails to meet its obligations under the debt
Aytu assumes in the merger, the lenders would be entitled to foreclose on all or some of the collateral securing such debt which could have a material adverse
effect on Aytu and its ability to make expected distributions, and could threaten Aytu’s continued viability.

 
Aytu is subject to the risks normally associated with debt financing, including the following risks:

 
 • Aytu’s cash flow may be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest, or require Aytu to dedicate a substantial portion of its

cash flow to pay its debt and the interest associated with its debt rather than to other areas of its business;
 

 • it may be more difficult for Aytu to obtain additional financing in the future for its operations, working capital requirements, capital
expenditures, debt service or other general requirements;

 
 • Aytu may be more vulnerable in the event of adverse economic and industry conditions or a downturn in its business;

 
 • Aytu may be placed at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that have less debt; and

 
 • Aytu may not be able to refinance at all or on favorable terms, as its debt matures.

 
If any of the above risks occurred, Aytu’s financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

 
Aytu and Neos may be targets of transaction related lawsuits which could result in substantial costs and may delay or prevent the merger

from being completed. If the merger is completed, Aytu will also assume Neos’ risks arising from various legal proceedings. 
 

Securities class action lawsuits and derivative lawsuits are often brought against public companies that have entered into Merger Agreements. Even if
the lawsuits are without merit, defending against these claims can result in substantial costs and divert management time and resources. An adverse judgment
could result in monetary damages, which could have a negative impact on Aytu’s and Neos’ respective liquidity and financial condition. Additionally, if a plaintiff
is successful in obtaining an injunction prohibiting completion of the merger, then that injunction may delay or prevent the merger from being completed, which
may adversely affect Aytu’s and Neos’ respective business, financial position and results of operation. There can be no assurance that no complaints will be
filed with respect to the merger, or that any additional complaints will be filed with respect to the Aytu’s acquisition of a portfolio of pediatric primary care
products from Cerecor, Inc. (“Cerecor”) in 2019 (the “Cerecor Transaction”). Currently, with regard to the merger, Aytu and Neos are not aware of any
securities class action lawsuits or derivative lawsuits being filed with respect to the merger.

 
Aytu and Neos have incurred, and will incur, substantial direct and indirect costs as a result of the merger.

 
Aytu and Neos have incurred and expect to incur additional material non-recurring expenses in connection with the merger and completion of the

transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Both parties have incurred significant legal, advisory and financial services fees in connection with the
process of negotiating and evaluating the terms of the merger. Additional significant unanticipated costs may be incurred in the course of coordinating the
businesses of Neos and Aytu after completion of the merger.

 
Even if the merger is not completed, Aytu and Neos will each need to pay certain costs relating to the merger incurred prior to the date the merger

was abandoned, such as legal, accounting, financial advisory, filing and printing fees. Such costs may be significant and could have an adverse effect on
Aytu’s and Neos’ respective plans.

 
If the merger is completed, Aytu may fail to realize the anticipated benefits and cost savings of the merger, which could adversely affect the

value of shares of Aytu common stock.
 

The success of the merger will depend, in part, on Aytu’s ability to realize the anticipated benefits and cost savings from combining the businesses of
Aytu and Neos. Aytu’s ability to realize these anticipated benefits and cost savings is subject to certain risks, including, among others:
 

 • Aytu’s ability to successfully combine the businesses of Aytu and Neos;
 

 • the risk that the combined businesses will not perform as expected;
 

 • the extent to which Aytu will be able to realize the expected synergies, which include potential savings from re-assessing priority assets and
aligning investments, eliminating duplication and redundancy, adopting an optimized operating model between both companies and leveraging
scale, and value creation resulting from the combination of the businesses of Aytu and Neos;

 
 • the possibility that Aytu paid more for Neos than the value it will derive from the merger;

 
 • the assumption of known and unknown liabilities of Neos;

 
 • the possibility of a decline of the credit ratings of the combined company following the completion of the merger; and

 
 • the possibility of costly litigation challenging the merger.

 
               If Aytu is not able to successfully combine the businesses of Aytu and Neos within the anticipated time frame, or at all, the anticipated cost savings and
other benefits of the merger may not be realized fully or may take longer to realize than expected, the combined businesses may not perform as expected and
the value of the shares of Aytu common stock may be adversely affected.
 

Aytu and Neos have operated and, until completion of the merger will continue to operate, independently, and there can be no assurances that their
businesses can be integrated successfully. It is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key Aytu or Neos employees, the disruption of
either company’s or both companies’ ongoing businesses or in unexpected integration issues, higher than expected integration costs and an overall post-
completion integration process that takes longer than originally anticipated. Specifically, issues that must be addressed in integrating the operations of Neos
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and Aytu in order to realize the anticipated benefits of the merger so the combined business performs as expected include, among others:
 

 
 • combining the companies’ separate operational, financial, reporting and corporate functions;

 
 • integrating the companies’ technologies, products and services;

 
 • identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming operations and assets;

 
 • harmonizing the companies’ operating practices, employee development, compensation and benefit programs, internal controls and other

policies, procedures and processes;
 

 • addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies;
 

 • maintaining employee morale and retaining key management and other employees;
 

 • attracting and recruiting prospective employees;
 
 

 • consolidating the companies’ corporate, administrative and information technology infrastructure;
 

 • coordinating sales, distribution and marketing efforts;
 

 • managing the movement of certain businesses and positions to different locations;
 

 • maintaining existing agreements with customers and vendors and avoiding delays in entering into new agreements with prospective
customers and vendors;

 
 • coordinating geographically dispersed organizations; and

 
 • effecting potential actions that may be required in connection with obtaining regulatory approvals.

 
 

In addition, at times, the attention of certain members of each company’s management and each company’s resources may be focused on completion
of the merger and the integration of the businesses of the two companies and diverted from day-to-day business operations, which may disrupt each
company’s ongoing business and the business of the combined company.

 
The Merger Agreement contains provisions that make it more difficult for Aytu and Neos to pursue alternatives to the merger and may

discourage other companies from trying to acquire Neos for greater consideration than what Aytu has agreed to pay. 
 

The Merger Agreement contains provisions that make it more difficult for Neos to sell its business to a party other than Aytu, or for Aytu to sell its
business. These provisions include a general prohibition on each party soliciting any acquisition proposal. Further, there are only limited exceptions to each
party’s agreement that its board of directors will not withdraw or modify in a manner adverse to the other party the recommendation of its board of directors in
favor of the merger proposal, in the case of Neos, or the approval of the merger consideration, in the case of Aytu, and the other party generally has a right to
match any acquisition proposal that may be made. However, at any time prior to the approval of the merger proposal by Neos stockholders, in the case of
Neos, or the approval of the merger consideration by Aytu stockholders, in the case of Aytu, such party’s board of directors is permitted to make an adverse
recommendation change if it determines in good faith that the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties
under applicable law. In the event that either the Neos Board or the Aytu Board make an adverse recommendation change and the Merger Agreement is
terminated, then such party may be required to pay a $2,000,000 termination fee.

 
The parties believe these provisions are reasonable and not preclusive of other offers, but these restrictions might discourage a third party that has an

interest in acquiring all or a significant part of either Neos or Aytu from considering or proposing an acquisition proposal, even if that party were prepared to
pay consideration with a higher per-share value than the currently proposed merger consideration, in the case of Neos, or that party were prepared to enter
into an agreement that may be favorable to Aytu or its stockholders, in the case of Aytu. Furthermore, the termination fees described above may result in a
potential competing acquirer proposing to pay a lower per-share price to acquire the applicable party than it might otherwise have proposed to pay because of
the added expense of the termination fee that may become payable by such party in certain circumstances. 

 
The indebtedness of the combined company following completion of the merger will be greater than Aytu’s indebtedness on a stand-alone

basis. This increased level of indebtedness could adversely affect the combined company’s business flexibility, and increase its borrowing costs.
Any resulting downgrades in Aytu’s credit ratings could adversely affect Aytu’s and/or the combined company’s respective businesses, cash
flows, financial condition and operating results.
 
              As of January 26, 2021, the current outstanding indebtedness of Neos is $38.3 million, which is subject to change between January 29, 2021 and the
closing. As a result of the merger, Aytu will assume the outstanding indebtedness of Neos at the closing. The amount of cash required to service Aytu’s
increased indebtedness levels and thus the demands on Aytu’s cash resources will be greater than the amount of cash flows required to service the
indebtedness of Aytu individually prior to the merger. The increased levels of indebtedness could also reduce funds available to fund Aytu’s efforts to combine
its business with Neos and realize expected benefits of the merger and/or engage in investments in product development, capital expenditures, and other
activities and may create competitive disadvantages for Aytu relative to other companies with lower debt levels. While Aytu successfully raised net proceeds
of $26.1 million in a common stock financing after announcement of the merger in December 2020, Aytu may be required to raise additional financing for
working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general corporate purposes. Aytu’s ability to arrange additional financing or refinancing will depend
on, among other factors, Aytu’s financial position and performance, as well as prevailing market conditions and other factors beyond Aytu’s control. Aytu
cannot assure you that it will be able to obtain additional financing or refinancing on terms acceptable to Aytu or at all.

 
Aytu may not be able to service all of the combined company’s indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy Aytu’s

obligations under Aytu’s indebtedness, which may not be successful. Aytu’s failure to meet its debt service obligations could have a material
adverse effect on the combined company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Aytu depends on cash on hand and revenue from operations to make scheduled debt payments. Aytu expects to be able to meet the estimated cash

interest payments on the combined company’s debt following the merger through the expected revenue from operations of the combined company. However,
Aytu’s ability to generate sufficient revenue from operations of the combined company and to utilize other methods to make scheduled payments will depend
on a range of economic, competitive and business factors, many of which are outside of Aytu’s control. There can be no assurance that these sources will be
adequate. If Aytu is unable to service Aytu’s indebtedness and fund Aytu’s operations, Aytu will be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, seek
additional capital, sell assets or refinance Aytu’s indebtedness. Any such action may not be successful and Aytu may be unable to service Aytu’s
indebtedness and fund Aytu’s operations, which could have a material adverse effect on the combined company’s business, financial condition or results of
operations.

 
Aytu will incur significant transaction and integration-related costs in connection with the merger. In addition, the merger may not be

accretive, and may be dilutive, to Aytu’s earnings per share, which may negatively affect the market price of shares of Aytu’s common stock. 
 

Aytu expects to incur a number of non-recurring costs associated with the merger and combining the operations of the two companies. Aytu will incur
significant transaction costs related to the merger. Aytu also will incur significant integration-related fees and costs related to formulating and implementing
integration plans, including facilities and systems consolidation costs and employment-related costs. Aytu continues to assess the magnitude of these costs,
and additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in the merger and the integration of the two companies’ businesses. While Aytu has assumed that a certain
level of transaction expenses will be incurred, factors beyond Aytu’s control, such as certain of Neos’ expenses, could affect the total amount or the timing of
these expenses. Although Aytu expects that the elimination of duplicative costs, as well as the realization of other efficiencies related to the integration of the
businesses, should allow Aytu to offset integration-related costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term, or at all.

 
Following the closing of the merger, there is a risk that a significant amount of the combined company’s total assets will be related to acquired

intangible assets and goodwill, which are subject to annual impairment reviews, or more frequent reviews if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Because of the significance of these assets, any charges for impairment as well as amortization of intangible assets could have
a material adverse effect on the combined company’s results of operations and financial condition.

 
The combined company will be subject to the risks that Neos faces, in addition to the risks faced by Aytu. In particular, the success of the
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combined company will depend on its ability to obtain, commercialize and protect intellectual property. 
 

Neos and Aytu currently have a limited number of products and the combined company may not be successful in marketing and commercializing these
products. In addition, following the merger Aytu may seek to develop current or new product candidates of both Aytu and Neos. The testing, manufacturing
and marketing of these product candidates would require regulatory approvals, including approval from the FDA and similar bodies in other countries. To the
extent the combined company seeks to develop product candidates, the future growth of the combined company would be negatively affected if Aytu, Neos or
the combined company fails to obtain requisite regulatory approvals within the expected time frames, or at all, in the United States and internationally for
products in development and approvals for Aytu’s existing products for additional indications.

 
The future results of the combined company may be adversely impacted if the combined company does not effectively manage its

expanded operations following completion of the merger. 
 

Following completion of the merger, the size of the combined company’s business will be significantly larger than the current size of either Aytu’s or
Neos’ respective businesses. The combined company’s ability to successfully manage this expanded business will depend, in part, upon management’s ability
to implement an effective integration of the two companies and its ability to manage a combined business with significantly larger size and scope with the
associated increased costs and complexity. There can be no assurances that the management of the combined company will be successful or that the
combined company will realize the expected operating efficiencies, cost savings and other benefits currently anticipated from the merger.

 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 

None.
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 

None.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 

Not Applicable.
 
Item 5. Other Information.
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Aytu BioScience, Inc., Aytu Acquisition Sub, Inc. and Innovus Pharmaceuticals,
Inc.  8-K 9/18/19   2.1  

            
2.2  Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 10, 2019  8-K 10/15/19   2.1  
            

2.3  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 10, 2020, by and among
Aytu BioScience, Inc., Neutron Acquisition Sub, Inc. and Neos Therapeutics, Inc.

 8-K 12/10/2020   2.1  

            
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation effective June 3, 2015  8-K 6/09/15   3.1  
            
3.2  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation effective June 1, 2016  8-K 6/02/16   3.1  
            
3.3  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, effective June 30, 2016  8-K 7/01/16   3.1  
            

3.4  
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, filed on August 11, 2017  8-K 8/16/17   3.1  

            
3.5  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, effective August 25, 2017  8-K 8/29/17   3.1  
            

3.6  
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock filed on March 2, 2018  S-1/A 2/27/18   3.6  

            

3.7  
Certificate of Amendment to the Restated of Certificate of Incorporation, effective
August 10, 2018  8-K 8/10/18   3.1  

            
3.8  Amended and Restated Bylaws  8-K 6/09/15   3.2  
            

3.9  
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series E
Convertible Preferred Stock  10-Q 2/7/19   10.4  

            

3.10  
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series F
Convertible Preferred Stock  8-K 10/15/19   3.1  

            

3.11  
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series G
Convertible Preferred Stock  8-K 11/4/19   3.1  

            

3.12  Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective
December 7, 2020

 8-K 12/8/2020   3.1  

            
4.1  Form of Placement Agent Warrant issued in 2015 Convertible Note Financing  8-K 7/24/15   4.2  
            

4.2  
Warrant Agent Agreement, dated May 6, 2016 by and between Aytu BioScience,
Inc. and VStock Transfer, LLC  8-K 5/6/16   4.1  

            

4.3  
First Amendment to May 6, 2016 Warrant Agent Agreement between Aytu
BioScience, Inc. and VStock Transfer LLC  S-1 9/21/16   4.5  

            

4.4  
Warrant Agent Agreement, dated November 2, 2016 by and between Aytu
BioScience, Inc. and VStock Transfer, LLC  8-K 11/2/16   4.1  

            
4.5  Form of Amended and Restated Underwriters Warrant (May 2016 Financing)  8-K 3/1/17   4.1  
            
4.6  Form of Amended and Restated Underwriters Warrant (October 2016 Financing)  8-K 3/1/17   4.2  
            
4.7  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued on August 15, 2017  8-K 8/16/17   4.1  
            
4.8  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant for March 2018 Offering  S-1 2/27/18   4.8  
            
4.9  Form of Pre-Funded Purchase Warrant  8-K 3/13/20   4.1  
            
4.10  Form of Placement Agents Warrant  8-K 3/13/20   4.2  
            
4.11  Form of Warrant  8-K 3/13/20   4.1  
            
4.12  Form of Placement Agents Warrant  8-K 3/13/20   4.2  
            
4.13  Form of Warrant  8-K 3/20/20   4.1  
            
4.14  Form of Placement Agents Warrants  8-K 3/20/20   4.2  
            
4.15  Form of Wainwright Warrant  8-K 7/2/20   4.1  
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495419010889/aytu_ex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495419011717/aytu_ex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020042028/ea131376ex2-1_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000119312515217957/d939908dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420416106487/v441568_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420416111027/v443180_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420417043700/v473390_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420417045636/v474281_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390018002319/fs12018a3ex3-6_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390018010718/f8k081018ex3-1_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000119312515217957/d939908dex32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495419001148/aytu_ex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495419011716/aytu_ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495419012301/aytu_ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000165495420013283/aytu_ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000119312515262003/d50939dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420416099585/v439153_ex4-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420416124782/v449009_ex4-5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420416131142/v450891_ex4-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420417011968/v460775_ex4-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420417011968/v460775_ex4-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000114420417043700/v473390_ex4-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390018002319/fs12018a3ex4-8_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020006187/ea119503ex4-1_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020006187/ea119503ex4-2_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020006311/ea119575ex4-1_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020006311/ea119575ex4-2_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020007021/ea119842ex4-1_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020007021/ea119842ex4-2_aytubio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1385818/000121390020016604/ea123752aex4-1_aytubio.htm


            
4.16  Form of Underwriter's Warrant  8-K 12/14/2020   4.1  
            
10.1  Amended Employment Agreement with Joshua R. Disbrow dated July 1, 2020  10-K 10/6/20   10.62  
            
10.2  Amended Employment Agreement with David A. Green dated July 1, 2020  10-K 10/6/20   10.63  
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10.3  License Agreement with Avrio Genetics, LLC, dated January 20, 2020*         X
            

31.1  
Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer of Aytu BioScience, Inc. pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.         X

            

31.2  
Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Aytu
BioScience, Inc. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.         X

            

32.1  Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*.

        X

            

101  

XBRL (extensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from Aytu
BioScience, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December
31, 2020 formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheet, (ii) the
Consolidated Statement of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit), (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and
(v) the Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements.         

 
X

 
† Indicates is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 
* Information in this exhibit identified by brackets is confidential and has been excluded pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K because it is not

material and would likely cause competitive harm to the Company if publicly disclosed. An unredacted copy of this exhibit will be furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on a supplemental basis upon request.
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CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. WE HAVE DESIGNATED SUCH EXCLUDED INFORMATION IN THIS EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH [*]
 
 

Ex. 10.1
 
 

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
 

THIS EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) IS ENTERED INTO AS OF THIS 20 TH DAY OF JANUARY 2021 (“EFFECTIVE DATE”) BY AND BETWEEN AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.
A DELAWARE CORPORATION WITH OFFICES AT 373 INVERNESS PKWY, SUITE 206, ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112 (“AYTU”), AND  AVRIO GENETICS, LLC, A PENNSYLVANIA LIMITED LIABILITY

CORPORATION WITH OFFICES AT ____________________________ (“LICENSEE”). AYTU AND LICENSEE ARE SOMETIMES REFERRED TO HEREIN INDIVIDUALLY AS A “PARTY” OR

COLLECTIVELY AS THE “PARTIES”.
 

A.     Aytu owns certain Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information (as defined below) invented and/or developed in connection with a
rapid in vitro diagnostic semen analysis test that accurately measures oxidative stress.
 

B.     Aytu desires to have the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information used and commercialized in the Field of Use (as defined
below) by Licensee, and Licensee desires to obtain an exclusive license in the Field of Use within the Territory, and to manufacture, make, have made, use, have
used, offer for sale, sell, have sold and/or import Products (as defined below) in the Field of Use, using the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical
Information in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS AND PREMISES CONTAINED HEREIN, AND FOR OTHER GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, THE RECEIPT AND

SUFFICIENCY OF WHICH ARE HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGED, THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS:
 
1. DEFINITIONS
 

1.1     “Affiliate” or “Affiliates” means any corporation, person or entity, which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, a Party without
regard to stock or other equity ownership. For purposes hereof, the terms “control” and “controls” mean the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of a corporation, person or entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise.
 

1.2     “Confidential Information” means any confidential or proprietary information furnished by one Party (the “Disclosing Party”) to the other Party
(the “Receiving Party”) in connection with this Agreement, including, without limitation, all specifications, know-how, trade secrets, technical information, drawings,
software, models and business information pertaining to the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information, as further provided in Article 10 hereof.
 

1.3     “Field of Use” means human reproductive health.
 

1.4     “Improvements” means any and all know-how, invention or discovery (and all intellectual property claiming or covering such invention or
discovery) conceived, discovered, or made by Licensee its Affiliates, or its or their agents, sublicensees, or contractors (other than Aytu) during the term of this
Agreement, whether patentable or not, to the extent directly related to the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and/or Technical Information. For the avoidance of
doubt, “Improvements” excludes any and all Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information, which shall at all times be owned by Aytu.
 

1.5     “Net Sales” means the gross amounts invoiced and received by Licensee, its Affiliates, or sublicensees for any and all sales or transfers of any
Product, less the following amounts to the extent actually incurred or paid by Licensee, its Affiliates, or sublicensees with respect to such sales or transfers:
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(a)     trade, cash and quantity discounts, charge backs or rebates actually allowed or taken, including discounts or rebates to
governmental agencies/entities; wholesalers and other distributors; pharmacies and other retailers; buying groups; health care insurance carriers; pharmacy
benefit management companies; regulatory authorities; third parties associated with patient assistance programs; or managed care organizations;
 

(b)     credits or allowances actually given or made for rejection of, or return of previously sold Products;
 

(c)     any charges for insurance, freight, and other transportation costs directly related to the delivery of Product to the extent included in
the gross invoiced price;
 

(d)     any tax, tariff, duty or governmental charge levied on the sales, transfer, transportation or delivery of the Product (including any tax
such as a value added or similar tax or government charge) borne by the seller thereof, other than franchise or income tax of any kind whatsoever; and
 

(e)     any import or export duties or their equivalent borne by the seller;
 

All aforementioned deductions shall only be allowable to the extent they are commercially reasonable and shall be determined, on a country-by-country
basis, as incurred in the ordinary course of business in type and amount consistent with the Party’s, the Affiliate’s, or sublicensee’s (as the case may be)
business practices consistently applied across its product lines and accounting standards and verifiable based on conventional industry practices. All such
discounts, allowances, credits, rebates, and other deductions shall be fairly and equitably allocated to Product and other products of the Party and its Affiliates
and sublicensees such that a Product does not bear a disproportionate portion of such deductions. The transfer of the Product between or among Licensee, its
Affiliates and sublicensees will not be considered a sale, provided, that in the event an Affiliate or sublicensee is the end-user of Product, the transfer of Product
to such Affiliate or sublicensee shall be included in the calculation of Net Sales at the average selling price charged in an arm’s length sale to a third party who is
not an Affiliate or sublicensee in the relevant period. Net Sales includes the cash consideration received on a sale and the fair market value of all non-cash
consideration. Disposition of Product for, or use of the Product in, clinical trials or other scientific testing, as free samples, or under compassionate use, named
patient sales, patient assistance, or test marketing programs or other similar programs or studies where the Product is supplied without charge shall not result in
any Net Sales, however if Licensee or any of its Affiliates or sublicensees charges for such Product, the amount billed will be included in the calculation of Net
Sales.
 

If a Product is sold and not invoiced separately in the form of a combination or bundled product containing both the Product and one or more independent
products, then Net Sales, for the purpose of calculating royalties owed under this Agreement for sales of such Product, shall be determined as follows: first,
Licensee shall determine the actual Net Sales of the combination or bundled product; such amount shall then be multiplied by the fraction A/(A+B), where A is the
invoice price of the Product, if sold separately, and B is the total, aggregate invoice price of any other product(s) included in the combination or bundle. If the
other product(s) is/are not sold separately, Net Sales shall be calculated by multiplying actual Net Sales of such combination or bundled product by the fraction
A/C where A is the invoice price of the Product if sold separately and C is the invoice price of the combination or bundled product. If neither method can be used
to accurately determine the Net Sales of a Product in a combination or bundled product, the adjustment to Net Sales shall be determined by the Parties in good
faith to reasonably reflect the fair market value of the contribution of the Product in the combination or bundled product to the total fair market value of such
combination or bundled product.
 

1.6     “Patent Rights” means the rights associated with the issued patents and pending patent applications shown on Exhibit A attached hereto. All
right, title and interest in and to the Patent Rights are owned by Aytu.
 

1.7     “Product” or “Products” shall mean any and all components of the MiOXSYS ® commercial system including, without limitation, MiOXSYS ®

Analyzers, MiOXSYS® Sensors, MiOXSYS® Connectors, MiOXSYS® Calibration Verification Key (CVK), and MiOXSYS ® External Control Solutions, as well as
any and all products and/or services in the Field of Use that, except for the license granted hereunder, would infringe a Valid Claim of the Patent Rights.
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1.8     “Technical Information” means any and all know-how, inventions, discoveries, unpatented and proprietary ideas, trade secrets, specifications,
instructions, processes, formulae, materials, methods, protocols, expertise and other technology applicable to the MiOXSYS® commercial system or its
manufacture, registration, use or marketing or to methods of testing components of the MiOXSYS® commercial system or processes for their manufacture, and
including all biological, chemical, pharmacological, biochemical, toxicological, pharmaceutical, physical and analytical, safety, quality control, manufacturing,
preclinical and clinical data, instructions, processes, formula, and expertise relating thereto. All right, title and interest in and to the Technical Information is owned
by Aytu.
 

1.9     The “Territory” is world-wide.
 

1.10     “Trademark Rights” means, collectively: (a) the word mark “MIOXSYS”, U.S. Registration Number 86724491, which was registered in the U.S.
principal register on February 7, 2017; (b) marks that include or incorporate the “MIOXSYS” word mark; (c) any variants or formatives thereof; (d) any and all
printed matter, devices, products, articles or merchandise on or in connection with which the Trademark Rights are used including, without limitation, marketing
materials, packaging and other materials containing Product branding; and (e) the MiOXSYS® website (https://mioxsys.com/) and all of the information contained
therein; each as used on, for and in connection with the marketing and sale of Products.
 

(a)     Licensee shall take no actions that derogate or devalue the Trademark Rights, and agrees to make reasonable efforts to maintain the
goodwill of the Trademark Rights, as well as any registrations therefor, as set forth herein.
 

(b)     Licensee acknowledges that Aytu is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in and to the Trademark Rights. Licensee
agrees that any goodwill in the Trademark Rights resulting from Licensee’s use of the Trademark Rights under this Agreement will inure solely to the benefit of
Aytu and will not create any right, title or interest of Licensee (including any ownership right by Licensee) in or to the Trademark Rights. Except in the event of a
successful purchase of the Trademark rights by Licensee pursuant to Section 4.5 hereof, upon termination of this Agreement Licensee shall take all steps
reasonably necessary to assign any and all goodwill in the Trademark Rights resulting from Licensee’s use of the Trademark Rights under this Agreement to
Aytu.
 

1.11     “Valid Claim” means a claim of an issued patent included within the Patent Rights, which has not (a) lapsed, been canceled or become
abandoned, (b) been declared invalid or unenforceable by a non-appealable decision or judgment of a court or other appropriate body or authority of competent
jurisdiction, or (c) been admitted to be invalid or unenforceable through reissue, disclaimer or otherwise.
 
2. LICENSE
 

2.1     Grant of Exclusive Rights. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Aytu hereby grants to Licensee, and Licensee hereby accepts from Aytu, the
exclusive right and license, with the right to grant sublicenses (subject to the terms of Section 2.2), under and to the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and
Technical Information during the term of this Agreement to manufacture, make, have made, use, have used, offer for sale, sell, have sold and/or import Products
in the Field of Use within the Territory. The foregoing grant is made expressly subject to the following:
 

(a)     All applicable laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the requirements of federal law as pertains to the manufacture of products
within the United States;
 

(b)     With respect to the Trademark Rights, Licensee agrees to furnish to Aytu, from time to time as requested, representative samples of
Products to which it affixes the Trademark Rights. Aytu, or its authorized representative, shall also have the right at any time or times to conduct, during regular
business hours, an examination of the Products and of the facility(-ies) and processes for making the Products. If, at any time, any Products made or assembled
by or for Licensee and bearing the Trademark Rights shall, in the sole opinion of Aytu, fail to conform to the standards of quality set by Aytu, Licensee shall
promptly remove the Trademark Rights from such non-conforming Products in its possession and shall replace, at its own cost, any such non-conforming
Products held by the trade with Products containing conforming Trademark Rights.
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(d)     Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, all rights to the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights, Technical Information and
Improvements outside of the Field of Use are retained by Aytu. Furthermore, this Agreement confers no license or rights by implication, estoppel, or otherwise
under any patent applications or patents of Aytu other than the Patent Rights, regardless of whether such patents are dominant or subordinate to the Patent
Rights.
 

2.2     Sublicensing. Licensee shall have the right to grant sublicenses under the exclusive right and license granted to it under Section 2.1. Any
sublicensee shall be subject in all respects to the provisions contained in this Agreement and Licensee will remain primarily liable to Aytu for, and shall be
responsible for monitoring and enforcing, performance of all of Licensee’s obligations hereunder by any sublicensee. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, as an express condition of any sublicense granted by Licensee, a sublicensee shall be required to agree in writing to be bound by commercially
reasonable reporting and record keeping, indemnification and inspection provisions, and the applicable provisions of this Agreement, including, without limitation,
those pertaining to the use of the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information, indemnification of Aytu and the use of Aytu’s Confidential
Information. Sublicensees may not further sublicense without Aytu’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld in Aytu’s sole discretion. Licensee shall
promptly forward to Aytu a copy of any and all fully executed sublicense agreements, any subsequent amendments, and all copies of sublicensees’ profit sharing
or royalty reports, in no event more than thirty (30) days following execution or receipt thereof, as applicable. Licensee shall also keep Aytu reasonably informed
with respect to the progress of any relations entered into with any sublicensees. If Licensee shall conduct one or more audits of its sublicensees hereunder during
the term hereof, Licensee shall provide copies of all audit reports to Aytu on a timely basis. The covenants pertaining to the use of Aytu’s Patent Rights,
Trademark Rights and Technical Information, the indemnification of Aytu and the use of Aytu’s Confidential Information in any sublicense or assignment shall
inure to the benefit of Aytu, who shall be expressly stated as a third-party beneficiary thereof with respect to the covenants set forth in this Agreement. Licensee
understands and agrees that none of its permitted sublicenses hereunder shall reduce in any manner any of its obligations set forth in this Agreement.
 

(a)     Royalty-Free Sublicenses. Licensee shall not grant any royalty-free or non-cash sublicense or cross-license until such time as Licensee
had paid all of the minimum royalty payments due to Aytu hereunder.
 

2.3     Improvements. Licensee shall own all right, title and interest in and to any Improvements generated under this Agreement made by its employees,
agents or contractors, subject to the following:
 

(a)     It shall be Licensee’s responsibility to determine ownership responsibilities for any Improvements generated under this Agreement
made by any Affiliate or sublicensee.
 

(b)     Regardless of the source of any Improvement, within thirty (30) days of the conception or reduction to practice, as appropriate, of
any Improvement, Licensee shall provide written notification of the Improvement to Aytu, such written notification to include a clear and concise description of the
Improvement and Licensee’s initial determination as to whether or not such Improvement falls within the scope of the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and/or
Technical Information. Aytu shall then have thirty (30) days to make its own determination as to whether or not such Improvement falls within the scope of the
Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and/or Technical Information and shall provide written notification of its determination to Licensee. In the event the Parties
disagree as to the nature of any Improvement, they shall negotiate in good faith until such time as a mutually agreeable decision is reached with respect to the
same.
 

(c)     In the event any Improvement falls within the scope of any of the Patent rights, such Improvement shall automatically become part
of the exclusive right and license granted to Licensee under Section 2.1; Licensee shall then owe Aytu a royalty on all Net Sales of such Improvement, beginning
on the date of the first sale of the Improvement.
 

2.4     Commercialization. Licensee acknowledges that it is important to Aytu that Licensee pursue the commercialization and marketing of Products and
otherwise exercise commercially reasonable efforts to maximize the value of this Agreement to Aytu. Licensee will use commercially reasonable efforts to
commercialize Products as soon as practicable, consistent with sound business practices and judgment.
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(a)     Licensee will not utilize Aytu’s corporate name or logo when commercializing Products. Commercialization will occur exclusively
with use of the Trademark Rights and Licensee’s corporate name and logo; Aytu shall never be identified as the source of any Product during the term of this
Agreement.
 

(b)     Together with each annual royalty report ( see Section 3.5(a)), Licensee shall prepare and deliver to Aytu a written report (certified
by an officer of Licensee) indicating its compliance with the obligations in this section.
 

(c)     Licensee’s failure to perform under this Section 2.4 shall be grounds for termination of this Agreement by Aytu.
 
3. CONSIDERATION
 

In consideration of the execution and delivery by Aytu of this Agreement, Licensee agrees as follows:
 

3.1     Royalties and Non-Royalty Revenue .
 

(a)     Minimum Running Royalties for Products. In order to maintain this Agreement, Licensee agrees to pay and shall pay to Aytu, once every
calendar year, a minimum, running royalty of either:
 

(1) [*] on Net Sales of all Products and Improvements made, used, sold or otherwise distributed by Licensee, its Affiliates and/or any
sublicensee hereunder, or
 

(2) US [*]
 
whichever is greater, until such time as Licensee has paid Aytu a total of US [*] ( i.e., for a maximum of ten (10) years). All minimum, running royalty payments
under this Section 3.1(a) shall be due and payable thirty (30) days following each twelve (12) month anniversary of the Effective Date. Minimum, running royalty
payments will be made in U.S. Dollars via wire transfer, as indicated in Section 3.5 herein. Together with every minimum, running royalty payment, Licensee shall
deliver the report specified in Section 3.5(a).
 

(b)     Ongoing Running Royalty Obligations. Once Licensee has paid Aytu a total of {$1,000,000,} the minimum, running royalty obligation
under Section 3.21(a) will no longer be required. Thereafter, Licensee agrees to pay and shall pay to Aytu, once every calendar year, a running royalty as follows:
 

(1)     for a period of five (5) years after the date of reaching the [*] milestone, or until the fifteenth (15 th) anniversary of the Effective Date,
whichever is longer, [*] on Net Sales of all Products and Improvements made, used, sold or otherwise distributed by Licensee, its Affiliates and/or any sublicensee
hereunder; and
 

(2)     thereafter, [*] on Net Sales of all Products and Improvements made, used, sold or otherwise distributed by Licensee, its Affiliates
and/or any sublicensee hereunder for the remainder of the term of this Agreement.
 
All running royalty payments under this Section 3.1(b) shall be due and payable thirty (30) days following each twelve (12) month anniversary of the Effective
Date. Running royalty payments will be made in U.S. Dollars to the bank account, via wire transfer, as indicated in Section 3.5 herein. Together with every
minimum, running royalty payment, Licensee shall deliver the report specified in Section 3.5(a).
 

3.2     Arm’s-Length Transactions. On sales of Products and/or Improvements that are made in other than an arms’-length transaction, the value of the
Net Sales attributed under this Section 3.1 to such a transaction shall be that which would have been received in an arm’s-length transaction, based on sales of
like quality and quantity products on or about the time of such transaction.
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3.3     Duration of Royalty Obligations. The royalty obligations of Licensee as to each Product shall terminate with the termination or expiration of this
Agreement.
 

3.5     Payment and Accounting.
 

(a)     Reports. Each payment of royalties shall be accompanied by a report in the form attached as Exhibit B hereto, which sets forth in
reasonable detail the number and each type of Product and/or Improvement sold, the calculation of Net Sales applicable thereto, and such additional details as
may be reasonably requested by Aytu for the determination of royalties payable hereunder. Products and/or Improvements shall be considered as being sold for
the purpose of the calculation of royalties under this Agreement when the Products and/or Improvements have been invoiced. Copies of such reports shall be
sent to Aytu pursuant to Section 12.1 of this Agreement. All amounts due hereunder shall be paid in United States dollars and shall be made without setoff and
free and clear of (and without any deduction or withholding for) any taxes, duties, levies, imposts or similar fees or charges. Licensee agrees to pay and shall pay
to Aytu all royalties resulting from the activities of its Affiliates and/or sublicensees.
 

(b)     Wire Transfer Instructions.  All payments due hereunder shall be made by Licensee to Aytu in accordance with the following wire transfer
instructions:
 

[*]
 

(c)     Termination for Uncured Late Payment.  If payment of any minimum, running royalty payment set forth in Section 3.1(a) or any ongoing
running royalty payment set forth in Section 3.1(b) is not timely made, Licensee will be in breach of this Agreement. Licensee will have a period of sixty (60) days
in which to cure such breach by making payment, in full, of all outstanding amounts owed to Aytu. If payment has not been made by the end of this sixty (60) day
cure period, Aytu shall have the right, in its discretion, to terminate this Agreement, such termination to proceed pursuant to Section 7.2(c) of this Agreement.
 

( 1 )     Service Charges. A service charge of two percent (2%) per month, not to exceed the maximum rate allowed by applicable law,
shall be payable by Licensee on any portion of Licensee’s minimum, running royalty payment set forth in Section 3.1(a) or any ongoing running royalty payment
set forth in Section 3.1(b) balance, or any other amount payable by Licensee hereunder, that is past due and must be paid during the sixty (60) day cure period.
 

(d)     Records and Audits. Licensee shall create and maintain complete and accurate records and documentation concerning all sales of
Products and/or Improvements by Licensee, its Affiliates and sublicensees, in sufficient detail to enable the royalties that are payable hereunder to be determined.
Licensee shall retain such records and documentation for not less than seven (7) years from the date of their creation. During the term of this Agreement and for a
period of three (3) years thereafter, Aytu and its representatives shall have the right to audit such records and documentation in order to confirm the amounts of
royalties paid to Aytu hereunder. Aytu and its representatives shall have reasonable access during regular business hours to Licensee’s offices and the relevant
records, files and books of account, and shall have the right to examine any other records reasonably necessary to determine the accuracy of the calculations
provided by Licensee. The costs of any such audit shall be borne by Aytu, unless as a result of such inspection it is determined that the amounts payable by
Licensee for any one calendar year are in error and underpaid by greater than five percent (5%), in which case the costs of such audit shall be borne by Licensee.
Aytu shall report the results of any such audit to Licensee within forty-five (45) days of completion. Thereafter, Licensee shall promptly pay to Aytu the amount of
any underpayment discovered in such audit, or Aytu shall credit to Licensee against future royalty payments the amount of any overpayment discovered in such
audit, as the case may be. In addition, Licensee shall pay interest on any underpayment at the rate that is the lower of (i) two percent (2%) over the rate of
interest announced by Bank of America in Los Angeles, California (or any successor in interest thereto or any commercially equivalent financial institution if no
such successor exists) to be its “prime rate”, or (ii) the highest rate permitted by applicable law, from the date such amount was underpaid to the date payment is
actually received.
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(e)     Currency Transfer Restrictions. If any restrictions on the transfer of currency exist in any country or other jurisdiction so as to prevent
Licensee from making payments to Aytu, Licensee shall take all commercially reasonable steps to obtain a waiver of such restrictions or to otherwise enable
Licensee to make such payments. If Licensee is unable to do so, Licensee shall make such payments to Aytu in a bank account or other depository designated
by Aytu in such country or jurisdiction, which payments shall be in the local currency of such country or jurisdiction, unless payment in United States dollars is
permitted. Any payment by Licensee to Aytu in currencies other than United States dollars shall be calculated using the appropriate foreign exchange rate for
such currency quoted in the California edition of The Wall Street Journal for the close of business of the last banking day of the calendar quarter in which such
payment is being made.
 

(f)     Taxes. Licensee shall pay, or cause to be paid, any and all taxes required to be paid or withheld on any sales, licenses or other transfers for
value of Products, Improvements and/or Patent Rights (other than taxes imposed on the income or revenues of Aytu); provided, however, that under no
circumstances shall the amounts of such taxes be deducted from the total amount of payments otherwise due to Aytu hereunder. Upon Aytu’s request, Licensee
shall secure and send to Aytu proof of any such taxes withheld and paid by Licensee, its Affiliates or sublicensees.
 
4. LICENSEE OBLIGATIONS AND OPTION TO PURCHASE
 

4 . 1     Purchase of Existing Inventory. Within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, Licensee shall purchase all of the Product inventory in Aytu’s
possession at Aytu's cost. An accounting of the inventory, together with the total Licensee purchase price, is provided in Exhibit C.
 

(a)     Payment for Aytu’s existing inventory shall be made pursuant to the terms provided in Section 3.5(b) hereof. Payment in full must be
received by Aytu before possession of Aytu’s existing inventory will pass to Licensee. Once payment in full has been received by Aytu, the parties will make
mutually agreeable arrangements for Licensee to obtain possession of Aytu’s existing inventory.
 

4.2     Distribution Agreements. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Licensee shall assume, in full, all of Aytu’s obligations under all
Product distribution agreements Aytu has entered into with third party distributors shown in Exhibit D. Aytu will assign all of its obligations under all such
distribution agreements to Licensee, effective as of the Effective Date. The foregoing expressly includes, without limitation, Licensee assuming all of Aytu’s
warranty obligations under such distribution agreements. Aytu will take all steps reasonably necessary to assist Licensee with the assumption of such
responsibilities including, without limitation, obtaining approval for the assignment of such distribution agreements to Licensee as may be necessary. Licensee
acknowledges and agrees to such assignment and shall take commercially reasonable steps to fully comply with all of the terms of all existing Aytu Product
distribution agreements.
 

4.3     MiOXSYS® Analyzer. Within twelve (12) months after the Effective Date, Licensee shall take all action necessary in order to transfer all of the
rights and responsibilities for the manufacturing of the Product analyzer (i.e., the MiOXSYS® Analyzer) from {[*] to another ISO 13485 Certified manufacturer. For
the sake of clarity, “ISO 13485 Certified” means a manufacturing entity that has implemented an International Organization for Standard (ISO) 13485 Quality
Management System and has successfully met all of the requirements in ISO 13485 (where ISO 13485 = ISO 9001 + Additional Medical Device Requirements).
 

(a)     Upon successful transfer, Licensee shall provide Aytu with written evidence confirming the transfer and such additional information as Aytu
may reasonably require.
 

4.4     Customer Relationships. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that a stated purpose of this Agreement is for Licensee to assume all of Aytu’s
responsibilities with respect to Aytu’s existing Product customer relationships. Licensee shall take all steps necessary to assume Aytu’s role in all such Product
customer relationships and to ensure that all such relationships are maintained in good standing during the term of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, Licensee hereby agrees to assume full responsibility for all customer complaints, all adverse event reporting, all Product warranty
responsibilities, and all other customer-related responsibilities associated with the marketing and sales of all Products that Aytu has heretofore assumed. Aytu
shall take reasonable steps to introduce Licensee to all existing customers and to facilitate Licensee’s assumption of Aytu’s responsibilities in all such customer
relationships.
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4.5     Option to Purchase. After the full amount of the [*] minimum, running royalty recited in Section 3.1(a) has been paid to Aytu by Licensee,
Licensee shall have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase all of the Patent rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information from Aytu. This right shall
be ongoing and available to Licensee on a year-to-year basis, concurrently with the payment of the ongoing running royalty payments recited in Section 3.1(b).
 

(a)     In order to exercise this option to purchase, Licensee shall, concurrently with the payment of an ongoing running royalty pursuant to Section
3.1(b), provide Aytu with a commercially reasonable written offer for the purchase of all of the Patent rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information. Upon
receipt of such written offer by Aytu, the Parties will negotiate such purchase in good faith. Should the Parties settle upon mutually agreeable terms of purchase,
the Parties shall enter into a separate purchase agreement which will include provisions for the termination of this Agreement.
 

(1)     To be proper, the purchase offer must be for all of the Patent rights, Trademark Rights and Technical Information; offers to
purchase only a portion of such rights will not be entertained by Aytu.
 

(b)     For clarity, the option to purchase granted to Licensee after payment in full of the [*] minimum, running royalty of Section 3.1(a) shall be
available to Licensee each year for the remainder of the term of this Agreement as a matter of right. Failure by Licensee to exercise this option in any given year
shall not preclude Licensee from exercising this option in any subsequent year. Additionally, the failure of the Parties to reach mutually agreeable purchase terms
in any given year shall not preclude Licensee from making further purchase offers in subsequent years.
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

5.1     Mutual. Each of Aytu and Licensee hereby represents and warrants to the other that the representing and warranting Party is duly organized in its
jurisdiction of incorporation; that the representing and warranting Party has the full power and authority to enter into this Agreement; that this Agreement is binding
upon the representing and warranting Party; and that this Agreement has been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action within the representing and
warranting Party.
 

5.2     Rights to Technology. Aytu represents and warrants to Licensee that, to the best of its actual, current knowledge (without investigation outside of
Aytu as to such representations and warranties) (a) it has the right to grant the licenses in this Agreement, (b) it has not granted licenses to the Patent Rights,
Trademark Rights or Technical Information to any other party that would restrict the rights granted hereunder, and (c) there are no claims, judgments or
settlements to be paid by Aytu with respect the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights or Technical Information or pending claims or litigation relating to the Patent
Rights, Trademark rights or Technical Information. Aytu is not aware that any additional rights or licenses are necessary for Licensee to exercise its licensed
rights granted by Aytu under this Agreement.
 

5.3     Limited Warranty; Certain Damages.
 

(a)     Limited Warranty. AYTU makes no representation or warranty other than those expressly specified in this Agreement. Licensee
accepts the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights, Technical Information and Products on an “AS-IS” basis. AYTU MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTIES
CONCERNING PATENT RIGHTS, TRADEMARK RIGHTS, TECHNICAL INFORMATION OR PRODUCT COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. AYTU MAKES
NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION AS TO THE VALIDITY OR SCOPE OF PATENT RIGHTS OR TRADEMARK RIGHTS, OR THAT ANY PRODUCT
WILL BE FREE FROM AN INFRINGEMENT ON PATENTS OR OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES, OR THAT NO THIRD
PARTIES ARE IN ANY WAY INFRINGING PATENT RIGHTS OR TRADEMARK RIGHTS COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT. LICENSEE HEREBY AGREES
THAT LICENSEE WILL NOT GIVE, AND SHALL NOT PERMIT ANY AFFILIATES OR SUBLICENSEES OR AFFILIATES THEREOF TO GIVE, ANY SUCH
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION TO THIRD PARTIES ON BEHALF OF AYTU.
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(b)     Certain Damages. EXCEPT FOR THE BREACH OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS IN ARTICLE 10 OR IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY SET FORTH IN ARTICLE 9, IN NO EVENT SHALL AYTU BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT,
SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF PROFITS OR EXPECTED SAVINGS OR
OTHER ECONOMIC LOSSES, OR FOR INJURY TO PERSONS OR PROPERTY) ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS
SUBJECT MATTER, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER AYTU KNOWS OR SHOULD KNOW OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. EXCEPT FOR THE
BREACH OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS IN ARTICLE 10 OR IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY SET FORTH IN
ARTICLE 9, AYTU’S AGGREGATE LIABILITY FOR ALL DAMAGES OF ANY KIND RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS SUBJECT MATTER SHALL
NOT EXCEED THE AMOUNT PAID BY LICENSEE TO AYTU UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. THE FOREGOING EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS SHALL
APPLY TO ALL CLAIMS AND ACTIONS OF ANY KIND, WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO NEGLIGENCE), OR
ANY OTHER GROUNDS.
 

5.4     Compliance. Licensee, its Affiliates and sublicensees shall comply in all material respects with all applicable laws in the commercialization of the
Products and performance of its obligations under this Agreement, including the statutes, regulations and written directives of the FDA, the EMA and any
regulatory authority having jurisdiction in the Territory, the FD&C Act, the Federal Health Care Programs Anti-Kickback Law, 42 USAC. 1320a-7b(b), the statutes,
regulations and written directives of Medicare, Medicaid and all other health care programs, as defined in 42 USAC. § 1320a-7b(f), and the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, each as may be amended from time to time.
 
6. PATENT RIGHTS, TRADEMARK RIGHTS
 

6.1     Maintenance. Commencing on the Effective Date, Licensee shall assume, in coordination with Aytu, full responsibility for the maintenance of the
Patent Rights and the Trademark Rights in the Territory, including, but not limited to, payment of all renewal fees, annuities, maintenance fees, and other costs,
fees and expenses related thereto. Licensee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the Patent Rights and the Trademark Rights to the benefit of
Aytu. Aytu shall be reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses associated with such maintenance, as such expenses are incurred. Upon Aytu’s
request, Licensee shall secure and send to Aytu proof of such maintenance paid by Licensee, its Affiliates or sublicensees.
 

6.2     Abandonment, Disclaimers, etc. Licensee is not authorized to abandon, disclaim, withdraw, seek reissue, seek reexamination or allow to lapse
any patent or patent application within the Patent Rights or any of the Trademark Rights. In the event that Licensee would like to abandon, disclaim, withdraw,
seek reissue, seek reexamination or allow to lapse any patent or patent application within the Patent Rights or any of the Trademark Rights, Licensee shall notify
Aytu of the same at least sixty (60) days before a final due date which would result in any of the same. In such event, Aytu may, at its sole option and expense,
reassume the maintenance of the patent application, patent or trademark at which point Licensee’s rights in and to such patent application, patent or trademark
shall immediately terminate. Aytu may also, at its sole option, authorize the abandonment, disclaimer, withdrawal, seeking reissue, seeking reexamination or
allowing to lapse of the patent, patent application or trademark at issue, which will cease to be a part of the terms of this Agreement upon formal notification of
abandonment by its respective patent office.
 
7. TERM AND TERMINATION
 

7.1     Term. Unless earlier terminated as provided in Section 3.5(c) hereof, the term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall
continue in perpetuity until terminated pursuant to this Article 7.
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7.2     Termination. Except as provided by Section 7.3 hereof, and in addition to the termination provisions of Section 3.5(c), this Agreement shall
terminate upon the earliest to occur of the following:
 

( a )     Automatically if Licensee shall enter into a liquidating bankruptcy, be adjudged insolvent, liquidate, dissolve and/or if the business of
Licensee shall be placed in the hands of a receiver, assignee, or trustee, whether by voluntary act of Licensee or otherwise; provided, however, that if any such
action is involuntary, termination shall not take place unless the action is not reversed within thirty (30) days. Licensee shall give Aytu at least sixty (60) days’
prior written notice before Licensee initiates any bankruptcy proceeding, and Aytu shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon receipt of
such notice;
 

(b)     Automatically if the performance by either party to this Agreement of any term, covenant, condition or provision hereof is deemed illegal or
unethical by any recognized governmental agency or body. Upon such occurrence, Aytu shall provide written notice to Licensee setting forth the reason for such
termination and the parties shall work in good faith to attempt to revise the terms of this Agreement to mitigate the issue(s). If the parties cannot, within thirty (30)
days following Aytu’s delivery of the written notice, resolve the issue(s) through a revision to the terms of this Agreement which is reasonably satisfactory to Aytu,
Aytu may immediately terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Licensee;
 

(c)     Immediately upon written notice from Aytu to Licensee of non-payment of any royalty payment required by Sections 3.1(a) and 3.1(b) hereof
that has not been cured within the stated sixty (60) day cure period of Section 3.5(c);
 

(d)     In addition to, but exclusive of, the remedy provided in Section 7.2(c), supra, upon ninety (90) days’ written notice from Aytu if, within such
90-day period, Licensee shall fail to cure fully any breach or default of any material obligation under this Agreement as described in such written notice detailing
the facts of such breach with reasonable specificity; provided, however, that Licensee may avoid such termination if, before the end of such 75-day period, such
breach or default has been cured by Licensee to the reasonable satisfaction of Aytu;
 

(e)     Upon ninety (90) days’ written notice from Licensee if, within such 90- day period, Aytu shall fail to cure fully any breach or default of any
material obligation under this Agreement as described in such written notice detailing the facts of such breach with reasonable specificity; provided, however, that
Aytu may avoid such termination if, before the end of such 90-day period, such breach or default has been cured by Aytu to the reasonable satisfaction of
Licensee; and
 

( f )     Upon the mutual written agreement of the parties hereto (such termination to be effective as of the date mutually agreed upon in such
written agreement).
 

7.3     Obligations Upon Termination. Upon any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.2, nothing herein shall be construed to release any
party from any liability for any obligation incurred through the effective date of termination (e.g., confidentiality, payment of any royalty, payment of patent
maintenance expenses incurred prior to such date, etc.) or for any breach of this Agreement prior to the effective date of such termination. Upon any termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof, all unpaid royalties owed by Licensee to Aytu under Sections 3.1(a) and 3.1(b) of this Agreement which are
outstanding as of the effective date of termination (including any interest that has accrued thereon) shall become immediately due and payable, and Licensee shall
pay the full outstanding amounts to Aytu within five (5) business days of the effective date of such termination. Licensee may, for a period of one (1) year after the
effective date of such termination, sell all tangible Products customarily classified as “inventory” that it has on hand at the date of termination, subject to payment
by Licensee to Aytu of the applicable royalty.
 

7.4     Effect of Termination. In the event of any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.2 hereof, where such termination has not been
caused by any action or inaction on the part of any sublicensee of Licensee or by any breach by such sublicensee of its obligations under its sublicense from
Licensee, such termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to the rights of each non-breaching sublicensee of Licensee and each non-breaching
sublicensee shall be deemed to be a licensee of Aytu thereunder, and Aytu shall be entitled to all rights, but shall not be subject to any obligations (other than the
grant of license and appurtenant obligations under this Agreement to the extent provided for in such sublicense) of Licensee thereunder.
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7.5     Right to Institute Legal Actions. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.2 hereof, Aytu, on the one hand, and Licensee, on the other hand,
may institute any other legal action or pursue any other remedy against the other Party permitted by applicable law if the other Party does not substantially cure
any breach or default of any material obligation as provided herein.
 

7.6     Reversion of Rights. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, full responsibility for maintenance of the Patent Rights and the
Trademark rights shall, at the option of Aytu (exercisable in its sole and absolute discretion), revert to Aytu upon any termination of this Agreement, at Aytu’s sole
expense from the date of reversion.
 

7.7     Return of Technical Information, Confidential Information and Data. In the event of any termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall promptly
return all Technical Information and Aytu Confidential Information in its possession. Licensee shall not be entitled to retain any copies, even for archival purposes.
Licensee shall also provide Aytu with copies of all data, information and materials obtained or generated by or on behalf of Licensee in the course of marketing
and commercializing Products using the Patent Rights, Trademark rights and the Technical Information.
 
8. INFRINGEMENT BY THIRD PARTIES
 

8.1     Enforcement. Licensee shall have the first right and the obligation to enforce, at its sole expense, any Patent Rights and/or the Trademark Rights
to the extent licensed hereunder against infringement by third parties and shall notify Aytu in writing in advance of all such enforcement efforts. Aytu shall
reasonably cooperate in any such enforcement and, as necessary, join as a party therein and Licensee shall reimburse Aytu for all expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with any such enforcement. Any damages or other recovery from an infringement action undertaken by
Licensee shall first be used to reimburse the parties, on a pro rata pari passu  basis, for the costs and expenses incurred in such action, and shall thereafter be
allocated between the parties as follows{: (i) [*] to Aytu and (ii) [*] to Licensee.}
 

(a)     In the event that Licensee does not file suit against, or commence settlement negotiations with, a substantial infringer of the Patent
Rights or the Trademark Rights within ninety (90) days of receipt of a written demand from Aytu that Licensee bring suit, then Aytu shall have the right (but not the
obligation), at its own expense, to enforce any Patent Rights or Trademark Rights licensed hereunder on behalf of itself and Licensee. Any damages or other
recovery, net of the Parties’ costs and expenses incurred in such infringement action, shall be the sole property of Aytu.
 

8.2     Defense. In the event that any Patent Rights or the Trademark rights are the subject of a legal action seeking invalidation and/or declaratory relief
or of any reexamination or opposition proceeding instituted by a third party, the Parties agree to promptly consult with each other concerning the defense of such
actions or proceedings. If the Parties agree that such defense should be undertaken, then Licensee shall bear the expenses, including attorneys’ fees, associated
with such defense and in any recoupment of expenses. If the Parties disagree, then the Party desiring to defend the action or proceeding may proceed with such
defense and will bear its own expenses, and be entitled to all sums recovered.
 
9. INDEMNIFICATION
 

9.1     Indemnification by Licensee. Subject to Section 9.2 hereof, Licensee shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify Aytu and each of its officers,
directors, employees and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”, and collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all claims, damages, losses,
liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses and costs of investigation, whether or not suit is filed) suffered or incurred by
any of the Indemnified Parties in any action, suit, litigation, arbitration or dispute of any kind (“Action”) arising or resulting from any negligence or willful acts or
omissions on the part of Licensee, its Affiliates or sublicensees in connection with their use of the Patent Rights, Trademark Rights and/or Technical Information;
and/or the exercise of their rights hereunder or under any sublicense, including, but not limited to the manufacture, sale, use, marketing, or other disposition of
Products manufactured, sold, marketed, used or otherwise disposed of under this Agreement, including the existing Product inventory (see, Section 4.1).
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(a)     As part of its obligations hereunder, Licensee shall defend any Action brought against any of the Indemnified Parties with counsel
of its own choosing and reasonably acceptable to Aytu, and neither Aytu nor any other Indemnified Party shall enter into any settlement of any such Action
without first obtaining prior approval of Licensee. Licensee shall pay all costs, including attorney’s fees, incurred in enforcing this indemnification provision.
 

(b)     Should Aytu or any other Indemnified Party not afford Licensee the right to defend any such Action, or should Aytu or any other
Indemnified Party not obtain the approval of Licensee to any such settlement, Licensee shall have no obligation to indemnify Aytu or any other Indemnified Party
hereunder.
 

(c)     Should Licensee fail to provide a defense for the Indemnified Parties as required hereunder, then Licensee shall reimburse Aytu for
its out-of-pocket expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses and costs of investigation) which are incurred as a result of any
investigation, defense or settlement relating to the foregoing, which reimbursement shall be made immediately to Aytu upon receipt by Licensee of invoices
reflecting in reasonable detail such expenses incurred by Aytu.
 

(d)     Within one hundred and twenty (120) days following the Effective Date, Licensee shall obtain and maintain insurance policies
(including products liability and general liability policies at such time as is appropriate) which are reasonable and necessary to cover its activities and to comply
with the indemnification obligations set forth above. Such insurance policies shall name Aytu as an additional insured party and shall provide a minimum of [*] in
coverage per occurrence. Licensee shall provide Aytu with prompt written notice of any material change in coverage under such policies. If Aytu determines that
evidence of Licensee’s insurance coverage is necessary and appropriate, within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date (subject to extension if reasonably required)
and annually thereafter, Licensee shall provide Aytu with a certificate of insurance issued by the appropriate insurance company evidencing the insurance
coverage required by this Section 9.1, together with copies of the endorsement which specifies Aytu as an additional insured and the declarations page for each
such insurance policy.
 

9.2     Notice of Claim. Aytu shall promptly notify Licensee in writing of any claim or Action or material threat thereof brought against any Indemnified
Party in respect of which indemnification may be sought and, to the extent allowed by law, shall reasonably cooperate with Licensee in defending or settling any
such claim or Action. No settlement of any claim, Action or threat thereof received by Aytu and for which Aytu intends to seek indemnification (for itself or on
behalf of any other Indemnified Party) shall be made without the prior joint written approval of Licensee and Aytu.
 
10. CONFIDENTIALITY
 

10.1     Non-Disclosure. The Parties shall keep the terms of this Agreement and all business and scientific discussions relating to the business of the
parties strictly confidential. It may, from time to time, be necessary for the Parties, in connection with performance under this Agreement, to disclose Confidential
Information (including know-how) to each other. Should that become necessary, all such information that is intended to be confidential shall be reasonably
identified as “Confidential Information”. In such an event, the Receiving Party shall keep in strictest confidence the Confidential Information of the Disclosing
Party, using the standard of care it normally uses for information of like character, and shall not disclose the Confidential Information to any third party or use it
except as expressly authorized by the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement; provided, however, that Licensee
may disclose Aytu’s Confidential Information to its Affiliates and sublicensees as shall be reasonably necessary to carry out the intent of this Agreement or any
sublicense granted by Licensee as contemplated by this Agreement if, and only if, such Affiliates and/or sublicensees each execute a legally binding agreement
containing confidentiality provisions no less restrictive than those contained in this Section 10. The Receiving Party’s obligation hereunder shall not apply to
Confidential Information that the Receiving Party can show:
 

(a)     Is or later becomes part of the public domain through no fault or neglect of the Receiving Party;
 

(b)     Is received in good faith from a third party having no obligations of confidentiality to  the Disclosing Party, provided that the Receiving Party
complies with any restrictions imposed by the third party;
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(c)     Is independently developed by the Receiving Party without use of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information; or
 

( d )     Is required by law or regulation to be disclosed, provided that the Receiving Party uses reasonable efforts to restrict disclosure and to
obtain confidential treatment.
 

10.2     Limits on Permitted Disclosures. Each Party agrees that any disclosure or distribution of the other party’s Confidential Information within its
own organization shall be made only as is reasonably necessary to carry out the intent of this Agreement. The Parties further agree that all of their respective
officers, employees, agents, representatives or approved sublicensees to whom any Confidential Information is disclosed or distributed shall have agreed to
maintain its confidentiality.
 

10.3     Legally Required Disclosures. If a subpoena or other legal process concerning Confidential Information is served upon any Party pertaining to
the subject matter hereof, the Party served shall notify the other party immediately, the other Party shall cooperate with the Party served, at the other Party’s
expense, in any effort to contest the validity of such subpoena or other legal process. This Section 10.3 shall not be construed in any way to limit any Party’s
ability to satisfy any disclosure of its relationship with the other Party required by any governmental authority.
 

10.4     Technical Information as Confidential Information. The Technical Information is understood by Licensee to be the Confidential Information of
Aytu to the extent it is unpublished or otherwise not publicly available. As such, Licensee’s confidentiality obligations hereunder automatically extend to any and
all Technical Information.
 

10 .5     Remedies. Both Parties acknowledge and agree that it would be difficult to measure damages for breach by either Party of the covenants set
forth in this Section 10, that injury from any such breach would be incalculable, and that money damages would therefore be an inadequate remedy for any such
breach. Accordingly, either Party shall be entitled, in addition to all other remedies available hereunder or under law or equity, to injunctive or such other equitable
relief as a court may deem appropriate to restrain or remedy any breach of such covenants.
 
11. PATENT MARKING
 

In the event any Product is the subject of a patent under the Patent Rights, Licensee shall actually or virtually mark all Products made, sold or otherwise
disposed of by or on behalf of it or any of its Permitted Sublicensees as set forth under Title 35, Section 287(a) of the United States Code and shall respond to
any request or disclosure under Title 35, Section 287(b)(4)(B) of the United States Code by notifying Aytu of the request for disclosure.
 
12. MISCELLANEOUS
 

12.1     Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document required by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been
given (a) if sent via electronic mail or secure electronic file transfer, return receipt requested, at the time of receipt by the intended recipient, (b) if mailed with the
United States Postal Service by prepaid, first class, certified mail, return receipt requested, at the time of receipt by the intended recipient, (c) if sent by Federal
Express or other overnight carrier, signature of delivery required, at the time of receipt by the intended recipient, or (c) if sent by facsimile transmission, when so
sent and when receipt has been acknowledged by appropriate telephone or facsimile receipt, addressed as follows:
 

In the case of Aytu to:
 

Aytu Bioscience, Inc.
373 Inverness Parkway, Suite 206
Englewood, Colorado 80112
Attention: Jake Siciliano, Corporate and Intellectual Property Counsel (jsiciliano@aytubio.com)

 
with a copy to Josh Disbrow, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer (Josh.Disbrow@aytubio.com)
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or in the case of Licensee to:
 

[To be completed]
Attention: _________________

 
or to such other physical or electronic mail address or to such other person(s) as may be given from time to time under the terms of this Section 12.1.
 

12.2     Compliance with Laws. Each Party shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations in connection with its activities
pursuant to this Agreement.
 

12.3     Governing Law. For any dispute between the Parties to this Agreement which arises from or relates to this Agreement, the Agreement shall be
construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the United States of America and of the State of Delaware, irrespective of choice of laws provisions. The
Parties agree that Wilmington, Delaware shall be the situs of any legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement. Each Party hereby waives any right
it may have to assert the doctrine of forum non conveniens  or similar doctrine or to object to venue with respect to any proceeding brought in accordance with this
Section, and stipulates that the state and federal courts located in Wilmington, Delaware shall have in personam jurisdiction and venue over each of them for the
purpose of litigating any dispute, controversy, or proceeding arising out of or related to this Agreement. Each Party hereby authorizes and accepts service of
process sufficient for personal jurisdiction in any action against it as contemplated by this Section by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage
prepaid, to its address for the giving of notices as set forth in this Agreement.
 

12.4     Waiver. Failure of any Party to enforce a right under this Agreement shall not act as a waiver of that right or the ability to assert that right relative
to the particular situation involved.
 

12.5     Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void, invalid or unenforceable, the
same shall be reformed to comply with applicable law or stricken if not so conformable, so as not to affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this
Agreement.
 

12.6     Modification. No change, modification, or addition or amendment to this Agreement, or waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement, is valid
or enforceable unless in writing and signed and dated by the Parties.
 

12.7     Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Exhibits hereto (which are incorporated herein by this reference as if fully set forth herein) constitute
the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and replace and supersede as of the date hereof and thereof any
and all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of such agreements.
 

12.8     Construction. This Agreement has been prepared, examined, negotiated and revised by each Party and their respective attorneys, and no
implication shall be drawn and no provision shall be construed against any Party by virtue of the purported identity of the drafter of this Agreement or any portion
thereof.
 

12.9     Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in one or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same
instrument. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile or in another suitable electronic format (i.e., .pdf).
 

12.10     Assignment; Successors.
 

(a)     Subject to Section 12.10(b), Licensee may assign this Agreement as part of a sale of substantially all of its assets, regardless of whether
such a sale occurs through an asset sale, stock sale, merger or other combination, or any other transfer of Licensee’s entire business, or that part of Licensee’s
business that exercises all rights granted under this Agreement. In the event of a bankruptcy, assignment is permitted only to a party that can provide adequate
assurance of future performance, including diligent marketing and sales of Products.
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( b )     Prior to any assignment permitted under Section 12.10(a): (i) Licensee must give Aytu thirty (30) days prior written notice of the
assignment, including the new assignee’s contact information, and (ii) the new assignee must agree in writing to Aytu to be bound by this Agreement.
 

(c)     Licensee may assign this Agreement to any Affiliate of Licensee, subject to the prior written consent of Aytu, such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld. Prior to such permitted assignment, Licensee must give Aytu the Affiliate’s contact information and the Affiliate must agree in writing to
Aytu to be bound by this Agreement.
 

(d)     Subject to the limitations on assignment herein, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successors in interest
and assigns of Aytu and Licensee. Any attempt to assign this Agreement by Licensee that is not in accordance with this Section 12.10 is null and void. Aytu shall
have the right to assign its rights hereunder as part of any reorganization or bond financing.
 

12.11     Further Assurances. At any time and from time to time after the Effective Date, each Party shall do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, and
cause to be done, executed, acknowledged or delivered, all such further acts, transfers, conveyances, assignments or assurances as may be reasonably
required to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 

12.12     Survival. The following portion of this Agreement shall survive any expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement: Sections 3.5(a), 3.5(b),
3.5(d), 3.5(e), 3.5(f), 5.3, 7.3, 7.4 and 7.7 and Articles 9, 10 and 12.
 

 
 

[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , THE PARTIES HAVE CAUSED THEIR DULY AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES TO EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SAME SHALL BE EFFECTIVE AS OF THE

EFFECTIVE DATE, SUPRA.
 
LICENSEE:
 
AVRIO GENETICS, LLC
 
By:                                              
Name:                                              
Title:                                              
 
 
 
AYTU:
 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.
 
By:                                              
Name:                                              
Title:                                              
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Exhibit A
 

Patent Rights
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit B
 

Royalty Reporting Form
 
Licensee name: Avrio Genetics, LLC
Reporting period: 
Date of report: 
 
Royalty Report
Product* (list
products* by name)

No. units sold Invoiced price per unit Net sales Country of
sale/foreign currency/
conversion rate

Product name     
Product name     
Product name     
Total     
 
Total Net sales $
Royalty rate  
Royalty due $
 
Total royalty due: $___________________________
Due date:                               
 
Report prepared by:
Title:
Date:
 
Please send report via electronic mail or other file transfer protocol to:
Aytu Bioscience, Inc.
373 Inverness Parkway, Suite 206
Englewood, Colorado 80112
Attention: Jake Siciliano, Corporate and Intellectual Property Counsel (jsiciliano@aytubio.com)
 
with a copy to Josh Disbrow, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer (Josh.Disbrow@aytubio.com)
 
* - if the Royalty is for an Improvement, note that it is in Improvement and list the Improvement by name
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Exhibit C
 

Aytu Product Inventory
 
 
MiOXSYS® Component Name Part # Inventory Unit COG* Total COG*'s
[*]
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Exhibit D
 

Aytu Distribution Agreements
 
 • [*]
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Exhibit 31.1

 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.

Certification by Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
 

 
I, Joshua R. Disbrow, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended December 31, 2020 of Aytu BioScience, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d—
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
                                           

 Date: February 11, 2021   
    
    
 By: /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow  
   Joshua R. Disbrow  
   Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  
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Exhibit 31.2

 
AYTU BIOSCIENCE, INC.

Certification by Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
 

 
I, David A. Green, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended December 31, 2020 of Aytu BioScience, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d—15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d—
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
                                              

 Date: February 11, 2021   
    
    
 By: /s/ David A. Green  
   David A. Green  
   Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Ex. 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the filing of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) by Aytu BioScience, Inc. (the
“Company”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
 
 Date: February 11, 2021   
    
    
 By: /s/ Joshua R. Disbrow  
   Joshua R. Disbrow  
   Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                                         
 
 
     
 Date: February 11, 2021   
    
    
 By: /s/ David A. Green  
   David A. Green  
   Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer)
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